THE COMMERCIAL SEXUAL EXPLOITATION OF CHILDREN

by

CYNTHIA HIPOLITO

Presented to the Faculty of the Graduate School of

The University of Texas at Arlington in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements

for the Degree of

MASTER OF ARTS IN CRIMINOLOGY AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE

THE UNIVERSITY OF TEXAS AT ARLINGTON

DECEMBER 2007

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Now, that my project is finally complete I want to take the time to thank, with my most sincere gratitude, Dr. Bing. Thank you, Dr. Bing, for your support, dedication, patience, and guidance in this journey. I appreciate your devotion and commitment in this research. Thank you for believing in me. I am deeply grateful.

I want to thank Dr. Del Carmen and Dr. Eve for serving on my committee.

Their knowledge and assistance has contributed to my graduate education. They are excellent instructors making a difference at UTA, everyday.

I want to dearly thank my parents, Olga & Jose Hipolito, for their continued support and faith in me. You are my two pillars in life. I am what I am now because of you guys. I love you. I want to thank my sister for constantly bugging me on the phone, just to find out how I was doing and for you constant trips to keep me company, I appreciate it. I love you. Grandma thank you for your blessings and wishes, you are one of the most important people in my life. I love you.

I want to thank my fiancé for his love, support and understanding; I want to thank the rest of my family and all those closest to me because without their love and support I would not have made it so far away from home.

November 21, 2007

ABSTRACT

THE COMMERCIAL SEXUAL EXPLOITATION OF CHILDREN

Publication No. _____

Cynthia Hipolito, M.A.

The University of Texas at Arlington, 2007

Supervising Professor: Robert L. Bing III

The purpose of the study is to review the thematic content analysis of the empirical literature on the commercial sexual exploitation of children. The research explores recurring themes and/ or trends in the literature by inductive content analysis. The research involves the examination of the research, that is, published books, book chapters, magazine articles, newspaper articles, and refereed journal articles on the topic of commercialized sexual exploitation of children. This very basic form of content analysis will seek to amplify issues on the topic in an organized fashion, by exploring the themes to emerge inductively and make policy recommendations.

This research concludes with specific recommendations; there is a need for global knowledge, as well as to understand the cultural, social, and economic contexts this issue may arise.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	ii
ABSTRACT	iii
Chapter	
1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Scope of Study	5
1.2 The Plan of Presentation	5
2. LITERATURE REVIEW	7
2.1 A Brief History of Sexually Abused Children	7
2.2 Child Prostitution.	11
2.3 Child Pornography	17
2.4 Child Sex Tourism	24
2.5 Child Trafficking	28
2.6 Summary	32
3. METHODOLOGY	34
3.1 Typologies	34
3.2 The Sample	35
3.2.1 Developing the Sample	35

	3.3 Master List	36
	3.3.1 Developing the Master List	37
	3.3.2 First Phase (Method)	37
	3.3.3 Second Phase (Method)	37
	3.3.4 Third Phase (Method)	38
	3.4 Analysis Procedure	38
	3.4.1 What Gets Counted: Units of Analysis	39
	3.4.2 Analytical Induction.	40
	3.5 Disclaimer	40
4.	EMERGENT THEMES	41
	4.1 Poverty	41
	4.1.1 Globalization	45
	4.1.2 Unemployment	47
	4.1.3 Lack of Education.	48
	4.2 Family Dysfunction	49
	4.2.1 Prior Child Sexual Abuse	50
	4.2.2 Drug Abuse	52
	4.3 Technology	53
	4.3.1 Computer	54
	4.3.2 Digital Cameras	55
	4 3 3 Internet	56

4.4 Culture	57
4.4.1 Discrimination	58
4.4.2 Traditions	59
4.4.3 Education	61
4.4.4 Morality	61
4.5 Legislation of Laws	62
5. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION	66
5.1 Policy Issues and Recommendations	71
5.1.1 Concluding Remarks	77
Appendix	
A. FINAL MASTER LIST	78
BIBLIOGRAPHY	85
BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION	100

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

"A central characteristic of any abuse is the dominant position of an adult that allows him or her to force or coerce a child into sexual activity. Child sexual abuse may include fondling a child's genitals, masturbation, oral-genital contact, digital penetration, vaginal and anal intercourse. Child sexual abuse is not solely restricted to physical contact; such abuse could include non- contact abuse, such as exposure, voyeurism, and child pornography. Abuse by peers also occurs."

(American Psychological Association, 2001, p.1)

The sexual exploitation of children worldwide is a global growth industry. In the United States alone, it is estimated that at least 300,000 children are involved in prostitution each year (Estes, 2001). Worldwide, at least 1 million children are forced into prostitution.

Child sexual exploitation or child sexual abuse exists throughout the world, in nearly all countries. The problem extends from underdeveloped countries to modern industrial countries. Generally speaking, girls are primary targets of sexual abuse, but boys can be targeted as well. Many studies, (see ECPAT, 2006) have found that children as young as six or seven years of age are sexually exploited. The consequences for abused and exploited children include profound, physical, developmental, emotional, and social problems.

It is believed that the commercial sexual exploitation of children throughout the world is on the increase. In Europe, for example, there is frequent trafficking of children

from Central and Eastern Europe to Western Europe for commercial sexual purposes. It has increased because it is easier and cheaper for traffickers to recruit them. In Africa, where trafficking is widespread, an estimated 41% of children between ages of 5 to 14 are sexually exploited. In Asia, since the 1980's, the exploitation of children has been documented. In the Americas and Caribbean, children are primarily forced to work in commercial sex in tourist resorts in Mexico. In a report from the National Center for Missing and Exploited Children (2002), the U.S. Department of States Report July 2001, reveals that children from Central America, China and Eastern Europe are trafficked through Mexico for commercial sex work in the United States. These children are subjected to a range of abuses which include child pornography, child prostitution, child sex tourism, and trafficking of children for sexual purposes (Grant, David, Grabosky, 2001).

There are a number of factors that contribute to the commercial sexual exploitation of children. One contributing factor to the increased incidence of sexual exploitation of children is technology. Technology makes it easier for child abusers to exploit children; the internet has become an easy device to use in the exploitation of children. Today, producing child images on the internet for sexual purposes is very easy and inexpensive. According to the National Center for Exploited and Missing Children (2007), the technological ease, lack of expense, and anonymity in obtaining and distributing child pornography has resulted in the availability, accessibility, and volume of child pornography. The internet, for example, allows images and videos to be reproduced and made available to anyone with the click of a button. Images of children are exploited and monetary benefits are profiting from this type of child sexual abuse.

Child prostitution is another aspect of the sex trade between kids. Both girls and boys are prostituted everyday. As noted by Willis & Levy (2002), child prostitution involves offering the sexual services of a child or inducing a child to perform sexual acts for any form of compensation, financial, or otherwise. These children are prostituted in brothels, streets, bars, hotels and are frequently moved to help avoid detection. The National Center for Missing and Exploited Children (2007) estimates that over 50,000 women and children are trafficked into the U.S. for sexual exploitation. Many of these kids come from very poor countries and respond to ads on newspaper about job placement; however, what these kids don't know is that they are being tricked and are wanted for commercial sexual purposes.

Another aspect of child sexual abuse is child sex tourism. Child sex tourism is a growing industry in the world. Tourist cities provide easy access to children for sexual purposes. As tourists travel to distant lands to learn about the culture, food, customs, etc., they may also seek sexual access to children. Tourism offers the opportunity to make economic growth, even if it means exploiting children. The United States Department of Justice (2007) has reported that younger children (many below the age of 10) have been increasingly drawn into serving tourists. The commercial sexual exploitation of children is morally reprehensible and violates children's rights and liberties. Each year, millions of children are loss as a result.

In addition, the trafficking of children for sexual purposes involves organized crime groups. Trafficking is the recruitment, transportation, transfer, harboring or receipt of persons, for sexual exploitation (Ives, 2001, p.6). This type of child abuse

involves children taken by force from their countries to serve as sex slaves. This problem can be national or transnational. Children are moved across borders to be sexually exploited. The child is forced to sexually engage with an adult. In addition, what is even more problematic is the commercialized sexual exploitation of children. Individuals are making a monetary profit out of children who are sexually abused while these children are being humiliated, marginalized, exploited, and even killed. The commercial sexual exploitation of children is a seven billion dollar global business. This is the third most profitable illegal enterprise after the illegal trade and sale of guns and drugs. The commercial sexual exploitation of children involves coercion and violence, forced labor and is a contemporary form of slavery (ECPAT, 2006). The child is treated as a commercial and sexual object. Children involved in this phenomenon are constantly violated and denigrated. Those at risk of sexual exploitation are "most often vulnerable children from poor countries, children living in war zones, single mothers, young women, and especially children that are orphans and homeless" (ECPAT, 2007). Almost all of these children are kidnapped and coerced into child prostitution. Victims are trafficked from developing countries such as Asia, Central America, Africa, and Russia to developed countries such as the United States and Europe. In the United States, more than 45,000 children are forced to engage in prostitution.

In all, the global phenomenon of commercial sexual exploitation of children is a growing industry that harms children and violates their rights. Monetary profit is made out of innocent bodies. The magnitude of the problem is reflected in the number of

children, over a million, who are lost each year. There are contributing factors that must be understood and studied in order to resolve this problem. This global phenomenon is killing many children. There is a need to expand even further global knowledge; a need to identify themes and patterns of practice and also a need to understand the cultural, social, and economic contexts of sexual exploitation.

1.1 Scope of Study

The purpose of the study is to offer a thematic content analysis of the empirical literature on the commercial sexual exploitation of children. This research, then, involves an examination of the literature on the subjects, published in books, book chapters, magazine articles, newspaper articles, and refereed journal articles on the topic of commercial sexual exploitation of children. Another goal of the project is to make sense of the literature by methodological approach and theoretical orientation. Doing so will require a content analysis to aid in identification of apparent themes and trends in the empirical literature.

1.2 The Plan of Presentation

Chapter 1 introduces the topic while presenting the scope of the problem on the commercial sexual exploitation of children. Likewise, it provides an overview of the important points and trends from the literature review as to the approach that will be used.

Chapter 2 offers a review of the literature review and a historical background.

Chapter 3 focuses on the methodology approach. It describes the methods used to conceptualize and organize themes or trends in the literature.

Chapter 4 presents the themes gathered from the literature. Meanwhile chapter 5 presents the findings. This chapter also discusses the findings and policy recommendations and ends with some concluding remarks.

CHAPTER 2

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 A Brief History of Sexually Abused Children

Each year, more than 1 million children are forced into child prostitution, child pornography, abused in tourist areas and trafficked and sold for sexual purposes (Barnitz, 2001). According to the 2nd World Congress Against Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Children in 2001, children by being coerced or lured into the multi- billion world sex market agency are denied their rights, dignity, and their childhood. The literature reveals that the commercial sexual exploitation of children (CSEC) exposes them to one of the most heinous forms of child labor, endangering their mental and physical wellbeing.

CSEC is a form of forced labor and a contemporary form of slavery. Indeed, CSEC as noted by the 2nd World Congress against commercial sexual exploitation of children, results in serious lifelong threatening consequences, impacting the physical, psychological, spiritual, moral, and social development of children. Other marks associated with CSEC include the threat of early pregnancy, maternal mortality, injury, retarded development, physical disabilities, and sexually transmitted diseases including HIV/AIDS.

DeMause and Joseph (1998), suggest that while sexual abuse has been prevalent throughout history, it has only recently emerged as a matter requiring the public's attention. Child sexual abuse has existed since the Archaic Period in Ancient Greece.

During the time period, there were erotic practices between adult and adolescent male.

The sexual exploitation of children was seen as a form of sexual expression. This ancient practice as idealized by the Greeks, involved a relationship (sexual or chaste) with an adolescent boy and an adult man outside of his immediate family (DeMause, 1998). While Greek men engaged in relations with men and women, there were still some exceptions to the rule, many of them avoided sex with some women or boys. Around the same time period in Rome, these relations with boys took on a more grotesque and informal way. The literature reveals, for example, that people were "less civilized" and took advantage of boys based upon their social status; they sexually molested inferiors and had illicit relationships with "freeborn" boys.

At the end of the middle ages, the general consent of a young girl to engage in sex with an adult was ten to twelve years of age. Relatedly, research discloses that girls, who were victims of sexual abuse, were treated as perpetrators of adultery, while the young were viewed as victims

The development of laws against child sexual abuse evolved around the 1800's (Joseph, 1995). Certain organizations were formed as a result of the laws against child sexual abuse. One of the organizations established was the Prevention of Cruelty to Children. This organization is a private, nonprofit society dedicated to leadership in protecting and promoting the rights and well being of children. In addition, the public was advised of child sexual abuse by the first book titled, Medical Legal Studies of Sexual Assault, authored by a French pathologist in 1857, Auguste Ambroise Tardieu, which specified the problem of child sexual abuse. During the French Revolution, (1998), the age for marriage increased from eighteen to twenty one years; however,

many laws concerning sexual relations outside the marriage were abandoned and repealed, causing children to be unprotected and vulnerable (deMause, 1998).

Prior to the 19th century, children were considered small adults and communities formulated their own opinions regarding the protection of certain groups and developed different opinions on the sexual abuse of a child. Children did not have rights or protection. It was not until the 1900's, that children were afforded the same status as domesticated animals (deMausse, 1998). Sharing those rights with domesticated animals offered some protections against child abuse. By the 1900's several other organizations against child sexual abuse were formed as a result. Those organizations against child sexual abuse were primarily a response to a legal action from a high profile case in 1874, which is known as the Mary Ellen Case.

The Mary Ellen Case involved a young girl who lost her father when she was born and her mother could only take care of her until the age of three. Her mother gave her up to foster care; she was later given to a couple who claimed to be her relatives. Under their supervision, she was abused and there were no laws to protect her. It was not until, Wheeler, a social worker who met with Henry Bergh, founder of the American Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals, argued that children were part of the animal kingdom and therefore could be protected under those laws. In other words, the legal struggle for children's rights began with Mary Ellen (Hurewitz, 2007, par.1).

Meanwhile, Pressel (2000) writes that extensive and more meaningful studies on child sexual molestation were non-existent until the 1920's. Cases were rarely being

reported to authorities or exposed to the public. It was not until 1948, that the first estimated number of sexually molested children was released. According to Pressel (2000), by 1968, it was mandatory for physicians to report to the authorities any suspicion of an abused child. According to Beckett (1996), it was not until the late 1940's that doctors attributed children's broken bones, bruises, and other injuries to "internal medical causes" but by the early 1960's, these children were diagnosed as evidence of battered child syndrome. Meanwhile, Chase & Staham (2004), contend that it was not until the 1970's that the sexual abuse of a child became an issue in the United States. In 1970, the Child and Abuse Prevention and Treatment Act was created in conjunction with organizations such as the National Center for Child Abuse and Neglect to promote the protection and rights of children. This Act focused on child neglect on the part of a parent or caretaker, which resulted in the death, serious physical or emotional harm, sexual abuse and/or exploitation (Hunt & Baird, 1990). In addition, more laws were created in order to pursue protection on children's rights and raise public awareness. The National Abuse Coalition Act was created in 1979. The main purpose of this Act was to pressure Congress to create laws that would criminalize the sexual exploitation of children. A few years later Congress passed the Abuse Victim's Rights Act, which gave children a civil claim in sexual abuse cases. As indicated by the National Center for Missing and Exploited Children (2007), these new laws gave children rights and resulted in more prosecutions of child predators. The latest law, which gave the public the right to know where a child sexual predator resided, was in

Megan's Law. The law mandates that all citizens be notified of child offenders and their whereabouts.

The commercial sexual exploitation of children is the most destructive form of child abuse. Barnitz (2001), indicate that CSEC is an atrocity and a fundamental violation of children's rights and comprises sexual abuse by person to a child for remuneration in cash. As stated by Grant, David, & Grabosky (2001), the major forms of child sexual abuse that continue to exist and keep growing are child prostitution, child sex tourism, child pornography, and child trafficking, that make it a multi billion dollar agency in the exploitation of children. CSEC occurs in the sex trade businesses of prostitution, pornography, child sex tourism, and trafficking for sexual purposes (Barnitz, 2001, p. 598).

2.2 Child Prostitution

According to Willis & Levy (2002), child prostitution includes any sexual activity with a child, including intercourse, oral or anal penetration, and other forms of sexual touching, in return for exchange of benefits, such as cash given to another person on behalf of the child. Even though, researchers have established the fact that the definition of a child is different in every country, it has been established by the United Nations that any child under eighteen cannot willfully consent to sex. Children are forced to engage or offer services to perform sexual acts for money with another person.

According to a United States Department of Health and Human Services Report, up to 300,000 child prostitutes are walking the streets of the United States; many less than 11 or 12, and can be as young as 9 years old (Santos, 1996). It is reported that

children may enter the world of prostitution through different means. Children, for example, can be kidnapped, abducted, sold by the family, substance abuse, or the constant pressure of poverty. Children may be prostituted in bars, brothels, streets, parties, or even in their own home. Children in prostitution are expected to provide the same services as adult prostitutes. Statistics provided by Munir & Yasin (1997), claim that there are 100,000 prostituted children under the age of 18 in Thailand, in India there is more than 400,000 children, in Cambodia it is estimated to be 20,000 children, 10,000 children in Bangladesh, 60,000 children in the Philippines, and about 30,000 in Sri Lanka.

According to Voss (1999), child prostitution is illegal in every country of the world. It is the most alienating form of child labor. However, very little effort is done to help prevent it. There is no concise data on child prostitution (Spangenberg, 2002). Roby (2005), observes that the problem of child prostitution is underground, and therefore data is difficult to obtain. Statistics on the number of children forced into prostitution are frequently inaccurate. The data that is collected may be incomplete. As implied by Fraley (2005) countries don't even collect data; however, what we do know is that the figure of children being sexually exploited in different countries can add up to a million. In the United States alone, children as young as 8 where found in the U.S., while the majority of exploited children ranged from 13 to 17 years old (Ives, 2001). Research also reveals that girls and boys are the victims of child sexual exploitation for a profit and that a child as young as 6 have been documented to be sexually exploited (Denisova 2001).

Hunt & Baird (1990), describe the agony experienced by children, as young as 5 years of age, are forced to engage in a variety of sexual activities; these sexual activities include, oral, vaginal, and anal sex, along with sadomasochism and bestiality. Children follow these activities under the threat that they will be beaten and that their family members will be murdered. These children are often threatened with knives, guns, poison, or fire to ensure that they are compliant and continue to engage in these atrocious sexual acts. The vast majority of children are beaten by their pimps and abused by their customers (Ives, 2001). It has been estimated that about fifty seven percent of female children were raped an average of thirty one times per customer. These children face great risks, including forced perversion, rape, physical abuse, and beatings. Klain (1999) makes the point that some children may be exposed to the killings of other children as a presumed deterrent from keeping them from going to authorities for help. In addition, these children stay out on the streets at all hours of the night and engage in risky or delinquent behavior. In all, Klain (1999), remarks that children living on the streets are exposed to a greater danger of sexual victimization beyond exploitation through prostitution.

Other authors, (e.g. Voss, 1999; Klain, 1999), point toward the development of health problems for sexually abused and exploited children ranging from respiratory problems, headaches, TB, infections, wounds, sexually transmitted diseases, AIDS, and even death. Similarly, Voss (1999) notes that there is an increase demand for children, thinking that sex with children is safer, children seen as sexual commodities has increased the risk of children becoming seriously ill. It is estimated that seven thousand

young people, ages 10-24, become infected with HIV. For children involved in prostitution, client resistance presents the greatest obstacle to practicing safer sex. Klain (1999) suggests that children's youth limits their capacity to manage potentially violent situations or the risk of sexually transmitted diseases. Klain (1999) also suggests that involvement in prostitution places children at a greater risk of medical problems and health compromising behaviors including drug abuse, risk of suicide, and depression. Their health related choices can be undermined by the immediacy of their need for food, shelter, and relief from drug or alcohol dependencies. Children are in more danger than adults because they are uninformed, vulnerable, weak, and not in a position to seek medical help.

Furthermore, Kasyrie (n.d.) observes that a large percent of sexually abused children suffer from drug abuse. Willis & Levy (2002), comment on the abuse of several substances, such as, tobacco and alcohol, to inhalants incurring health risks such as overdose. The point made is that these substances can do permanent damage to kidneys, liver, and even brain damage. Ives (2001) notes that in semi-organized/organized prostitution rings, exploiters use drugs to control and manipulate children. Drugs will also make a contribution to their profits. Exploiters will get children addicted to drugs as a way for children to keep prostituting themselves in order to pay for their addiction. Some children describe crack as the new pimp, the addiction is encouraged as a means to gain control over the child (Klain, 1999, p.6). In other words, children continue to prostitute themselves in order to pay for their addiction, while exploiters continue to receive monetary profits.

The literature is replete with studies, Munir & Yasin (1997), Voss (1999), and Smith (2006), which describe the fear installed in the minds of these children. Each of these authors, Voss et al, observes that the fear the exploiters promote is intense, pervasive, and long lasting and that children are under the constant threat of violence and will become submissive to the exploiters. Children, young and inexperienced, are easily manipulated, which makes them vulnerable to physical, emotional, and psychological damage. The children become traumatized and become easy prey for many exploiters.

According to Lanning (2001) abusers and predators of children look just like anyone else out there. They are typically professional businessmen, blue and white collar workers. These individuals are frequently the very same people who develop the ideology of security and/or requesting more severe penalties for those who commit criminal acts. As maintained by Barnitz (2001), only a small percentage of the abusers are considered to be "pedophiles," most are tourists or businessmen who would not necessarily stalk or seek out children or adolescents in their own communities. In another study by Andrews (2004) the exploiters are predominantly male, wealthy, and from industrialized nations like the U.S., Germany, and the U.K., Australia, France, and Japan. On the other hand, in most instances, the exploiters are family members (Jeffreys, 1999). It often involves the family, friends, and boyfriends, as the main exploiter.

Pimps have become very sophisticated in the recruitment and maintenance of children. According to the Global Monitoring Report (2006), a pimp will force children

into prostitution, and move them from state to state, where police may be unfamiliar with sex rings. These children are often recruited in malls, parks, entertainment centers, among others. Grant & Grabosky (2001) maintain that children are lured by the idea of luxury. Expensive cars, clothes, and or wealth will be presented to children for the sake of keeping them and sexually exploiting them at a later time. Similarly, a pimp will look for children who are alienated, alone, and weak. Once a child is under the control of the exploiter, the child will have no choice but to frequently comply with the orders of a pimp on risk of physical abuse.

According to Lanning & Burgess (1995) pimps usually know that children are vulnerable, especially children with low self esteem. This is critical to the development of child sexual abuse. After a friendship is established with the victim, there comes the love relationship. The pimp will make the child feel safe, secure, and loved. After trust is established, sexual relations take place. As maintained by Denisova (2001) child prostitution has become a multi- million dollar business. It is an organized industry with clients, traders, and consumers. The dangers these children encounter have long term effects. Many of these children are beaten, raped, starved, tortured, or even killed. Moreover, these children may encounter depression, self destructive tendencies, inability to enter mainstream of society and ostracism (Barnitz, 2001, p.600). Taken together, the literature illustrates that youth are exposed to health hazards, ranging from venereal diseases, fertility problems, malnutrition, and the deadly disease of AIDS. Children are far more exposed to dangers than adults. Child abuse; however, does not only end with child prostitution but it continues with child pornography.

2.3 Child Pornography

Hames (1993) observe that child pornography is defined as the film or photograph of a minor who is sexually exploited. There is no universal definition of child pornography. Pornography includes explicit reproductions of a child's image. The United States federal law defines child pornography as any visual depiction, including any photograph, film, video, picture, or computer-generated image, whether made or produced by electronic, mechanical, or other means of sexually explicit conduct (Klain, Davies, & Hicks, 2001). As revealed by Voss (1999), there has been a major increase in the commercial production of child pornography since the 1970's, today; the use of computers makes it faster and easier to have access to these images.

According to the Global Monitoring Report (2006), the United States is one of the world's largest producers, distributors, and consumers of child pornography. There is a substantial market for child pornography. It has become easier, less risky, and more accessible to reproduce and distribute. Child pornography does not only promote monetary gains, but there is a considerable exchange and sharing of material between individuals around the world. Currently, Japan is the number one producer and consumer in the world.

Typically, children involved in pornography are victimized and harmed in the same way as children in prostitution. Hunt & Baird (1999) indicate, for example, that, exploiters work their way through children whom they are going to abuse. These children are forced to engage in sexual behavior. Children are forced to behave in specific ways. When children are sexually abused or made to be sexual with another

minor, and it is photographed, they are able to understand that there is now a picture of them being humiliated and being bad, according to Hunt & Baird (1999). The picture will be used to reinforce the children's conduct and silence. Those pictures are often used as weapons to keep the children from telling someone else of the problem.

Likewise, the picture is used to blackmail the victims. The pressure not to disclose the abuse is even more intense when the victim is aware that a permanent record exists (Hames, 1993, p. 277). As indicated by Klain (2001), these kids are constantly reminded that if they tell someone, their family members would be killed. As stated by the World Congress Against the Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Children 2006, not only do these children have to carry the burdens of STD's, trauma, violence, but the long term effect of knowing that there is a picture out there with their identity in it. The sense of humiliation will never end. Somewhere out there, the picture of the child circulating around destroys the child's dignity, like that creating health problems or even death (Voss, 1999).

There is immediate trauma and long term effects of sexual abuse on the victims. Klain, Davies, & Hicks (2001) mention that child sex abuse victims experience symptoms of distress in addition to any physical injuries, such as, genital bruising, lacerations, exposure to sexually transmitted diseases, depression, anger, and psychological disorders. These child victims also experience feelings of guilt and shame. Klain et al (2001) observe that many psychological and emotional effects manifest themselves through self- destructive and socially aberrant behavior. This type of behavior often leads the victim to engage in destructive behaviors such as substance

abuse, depression or suicide. The photography that occurs during sexual abuse intensifies the child's shame, humiliation, and powerlessness (Klain et al, 2001, p.11). Children who have been in the production of pornography commonly show a multitude of symptoms, such as emotional withdrawal, anti-social behavior, mood swings, depression, fear, and anxiety (Voss, 1999, p.3).

For the most part, Lanning & Burgess (1995), find that child pornography is produced by pedophiles. However, that does not limit the distribution to other places. The literature, Hames (1993) observes that such offenders may maintain home made child pornography and even sell or trade such images. Many of the pedophiles involved in child pornography fall into five basic types, as noted by the National Center for Missing and Exploited Children (2007). Klain, Davies, & Hicks (2001) identify the five basic the types of pedophiles as follows: closet collectors, traders, isolated collectors, cottage collectors, and commercial collectors.

Klain, Davies, & Hicks (2001) suggest that, the closet collector involved the offender that denies any sexual involvement with a minor. The offender conceals the child pornographic materials. There is no trading or communication with other collectors. The material is usually purchased discreetly thorough other commercial channels out there. However, this behavior may lead to future abuse of children. Not only because there is pornography collection, does not mean that the abuser will later on instigate on children.

Hames (1993), states that the traders of pornography do the opposite actions as the offenders above. These offenders do have communication with other consumers as

well, there is trading but there is no evidence of actual victims. The material is also purchased through different commercial channels but they aren't necessarily discreet. There is a competition among abusers to have as many images as possible (World Congress Against CSEC, 2001).

Lanning and Burgess (1995) make the observation that the isolated collector does in fact abuse children and produces images of the offense. The offender conceals his or her material in order not to be trapped by law enforcement officials; detection is avoided. The offender can purchase his or her material through commercial pornographic channels or by simply producing his or her own images by sexually abusing children. Their findings suggest that the cottage collector sexually exploits children and shares the child pornographic material with other consumers. The cottage collector does not necessarily buys pornographic material from other commercial channels but produces the images them him or herself. Moreover, this offender is not looking for monetary gain. This offender will produce the images and create his or her own collection. The cottage collector has constant contact with children.

As maintained by Lanning and Burgess (1995), the commercial collector produces, copies, and profits through the sales of child pornographic material. This offender abuses children for commercial purposes. The images will be sold for monetary gain. The abuser has contact with children and does not necessarily buy images from other sources.

Pedophiles share the same characteristics, motives, and purposes when it comes to abusing children Lanning & Burgess (1995). Their pornographic collection becomes

of great importance. They will spend a significant amount of time and money on their collection. These offenders look for individuals who support their ideas and beliefs. An offender will almost never destroy their material or collection. The motives of the offenders to keep a collection can have many purposes. The material (e.g. pornographic collection) fulfills several purposes for the offender. The most common purpose exposed by (Hames, 1993) in the Journal of Child Abuse Review, was that it provides a permanent record of the child, frozen in time, which is used for masturbatory fantasies. They use the material as sexual gratification and arousal. The material may include images from children whom the offenders may have never had contact but it is still critically important not to minimize it. The children involved in these images suffer from long traumatic disorder.

According to Finkelhor, Mitchell, & Wolak (2000), the offenders use their collection to show it to other children as a way to lower child's inhibition to engage in sexual behavior. This is done to desensitize and sexualize the victims. This persuades the victims to commit the sexual act. The children are shown the images in order for them to know how to pose or behave in the pornographic scenes. It is a neutralization technique as to make the children know that the conduct of posing is not wrong. By having some other children posing serves as an example of how to perform. As stated by Hames (2003), the material serves as part of the seduction process, to desensitize and sexualize the victims. However, after this technique is used, the threat of physical violence will be applied in order to keep the children engaging in the same behavior Hames (2003). The children will feel shame and humiliation and with no control of the

situation. The child will keep engaging in this type of behavior because their dignity will be destroyed (World Congress Against CSEC, 2001).

The literature on CSEC reveals yet another reason why pedophiles create and produce images of children that confirm and validate their belief system. They have to believe that what they are doing is not abnormal. According to the World Congress Against CSEC (2001), the offender by producing images and collecting child pornographic material, they believe that their behavior is normal and by that are legitimizing abusive behavior. Also, by showing children with a smile on the image it suggests to them that the child gave consent to the offense. Their primary purpose is to feel that they are not committing a crime. Abusers will continue to commit the crime because they will think nothing is wrong and others around them are doing it as well.

Hames (1993), suggests that the most disturbing purpose of a child sex offender to keep their child pornographic material is to blackmail the victims. The offender will use this weapon to threaten the victims. The child victims will feel terrified because they know that there is permanent record of the images. By holding images of the victims, the offender ensures that the victim will not report the crime to the police because the victim may feel he or she might be punished by the Criminal Justice System as well. The humiliation faced by the victim will make it impossible for him or her to report it to anyone out there. The child will be victimized not only by one abuser but by many out there.

Likewise, child sex offenders keep their collection for the purpose to sell for a profit or trade. They are lonely offenders who seek to justify their tastes. When they

find other offenders who share the same belief, then there is the opportunity to make a profit and start exchanging pornographic material. This type of exchange makes other offenders have easy access to child pornography. A monetary gain is the sole purpose of engaging in child pornography. The ease of money makes it an attraction to sexually exploit images of children.

The illicit sale of children images across national borders is an organized industry ranging from small businesses to large enterprises (Voss, 1999, p.4). Child pornography continues to exist and grow due in part of help from officials. Voss (1999) annotates that the sex sector is protected and supported by corrupt politicians, police, armed forces, and civil servants. These officials receive bribes and demand sexual favors; they are themselves customers or owners of the brothels that are used as facilities to prostitute children.

However, there is a new trend in the pornography of children; specifically, authorities have been disturbed by the pornographic images of children which feature violent sexual assaults on children (Hames, 1993). This may be a result to a demand for more depraved material. Not only do offenders believe that images of child pornography are normal, but to see a child suffer is sexually stimulating. The arousal of the abuser will go to the extremes and more children are abused as a response. Next, we explore the world of child sex tourism as a form of sexual abuse.

2.4 Child Sex Tourism

The literature on sex tourism ranges from discussions about the frequency of molesting children to the justifications offered by those who exploit children. According to Davidson (2004) child sex tourism involves the crime of traveling to or transporting a child under 18 for the purpose of prostitution or sexual activity. Sex tourists live out their fantasies while sexually exploiting children and denying their rights. Child sex tourism is defined as the "commercial sexual exploitation of children by persons who travel from their own country to another usually less developed country to engage in sexual acts with children" (Fraley, 2005, p.449). The literature (Ward & Patel, 2006; 2nd World Congress Against CSEC, 2001) reveal that the commercial sexual exploitation of children is the lack of importance given to human rights and the disregard of children's needs. Societies in which this activity flourishes become dependent on the revenues generated. As a result children are raped, sodomized, abused, and denied their basic rights. Sex tourists or child abusers can be men or women and come from all socio-economic backgrounds. In a related article by Davidson (2004) reaffirms the idea that many adults believe that by traveling to underdeveloped countries, they will enjoy these acts without arrest and conviction. Usually in these countries, (e.g. Thailand, London, and India) penalties are rarely enforced. As a result of weak legislation and no enforcement of laws these children suffer from life threatening diseases, long term damage and psychological disorders.

Children suffer from health hazards and long term psychological disorders.

AIDS is an enormous problem for children who are sexually exploited; they have an

extremely high risk of infection with HIV (Ireland, 1993, p. 267). Some offenders turn to children because they believe children pose less risk of infection. Smolenski (1995), comments on the horrible conditions these children must live by, for example, they are locked in their rooms or chained to their beds, and beaten if they balk at cooperating. Sometimes tragic accidents make headlines. In Thailand, for example, firefighters found the bodies of three 15 year old girls still chained to their beds (Smolenski, 1995, p.2). Coupled with these physical problems, the children are often poorly fed, lack adequate shelter, and suffer from malnutrition and tuberculosis (Fraley, 2005, p.452). Significant psychological effects include post-traumatic stress disorder, impairment of attachment, lowered self- esteem, and problems in interpersonal relationships, as maintained by Klain (1999).

Davidson (2004) observes that there are two types of offenders: the situational and preferential abuser. The situational abuser engages in this legal activity only when an opportunity is presented. This abuser travels to a different place for "ordinary" reasons but has unplanned or unreported sex with minors. The World Congress Against the Commercial Sexual Exploitation of children (2002) noted that because situational offenders may have had already too many partners, it constitutes a threat to the child because children are particularly vulnerable to STD infections because of their fragility, developing physiology, and the inability to insist on condom use. Ives (2001) observes that the preferential abuser already has a plan to engage in sex with a child. Unlike the situational abuser, the preferential abuser will have already outlined the plan as to where to go and what to do after arriving at the destination. This individual usually knows

what places to visit and where authorities are less likely to do something about the problem. This type of offender is away from home and has already an anonymity which releases the person from social constraints (World Congress Against CSEC, 2001).

Andrews (2003), Azaola (2000), Davidson (2004), and Ives (2001) reveal that as countries develop to build their economy and tourism industries, child sex tourism grows as well. ECPAT (2007) offers examples of the pervasiveness of this problem. In Brazil, for example, children are sexually exploited in clubs and massage parlors. In northern Brazil, young girls are brought by traffickers with promises of employment. When they arrive at the destination, they are forced to work in prostitution in order for them to pay their travel expenses. In China, Klain (1999) found that girls are trafficked for commercial sexual purposes into villages of the minority tribes. It has been estimated by Chinese police that since 1989, five thousand girls have been lured across the border for prostitution and child sex tourism.

Similarly in Cambodia, Klain (1999) has estimated that 35% of the sex workers are less than eighteen years old. There is an increased demand for child sex trade from business men, developer, and tourists operating outside the local brothels. The demand in child sex tourism is increasing. Likewise, Klain (1999) found that in Colombia, the number of child sex workers has increased five fold in the last years. Costa Rica, as well, produces child sex package tours.

In other countries, such as India and Indonesia, local clients and West Asian business men make up the clientele of child sex tourism, according to Smolenski (1995). Many children are brought to India for sexual purposes and when they leave

they are now infected and have become HIV positive. Two of India's major beach resorts have become home to children who are being held as child prostitutes. In the Philippines, as indicated by Klain (1999), advocacy organizations estimate that al least 60,000 children are being prostituted. Child prostitution increased with the U.S. Military presence and sex tourism. Children sell sex work on the streets and on beaches to tourists and locals. The numbers of tourists have increased due to this form of entertainment based on child sexual abuse. At the same time, in Thailand, commercial sex can be found in the streets, in tea houses, noodle shops, hotels, and tourist areas. The greatest number of child prostitutes is younger than 16 years of age (Klain, 1999). A high estimate of boys in prostitution is also found in the streets. Businessmen make up their clientele along with locals.

As indicated by ECPAT (2007), the United States is the greatest consumer in child sex tourism. Information collected from ECPAT suggests that U.S. Citizens represent the largest group of tourists visiting foreign countries and abusing kids. This observation is confirmed by Munir & Yasin (1997), who found that in Asia, 25% of those arrested for child sexual abuse were Americans, while 18% and 14%, respectively were German and Australian. As noted by Ireland (1993), as long as countries continue to be tolerant of prostitution, economically depressed, and politically unstable regions, child sex tourism will rise steadily.

A wide range of individuals and groups at all levels in society contribute to exploitative practices of children. Most notable are individual club owners, taxi drivers, and someone the child knows, including a parent, organized gangs and syndicates

(Snell, 2003, p. 509). As long as these individuals continue to contribute, child sex tourism will increase rapidly. The next section reviews the literature on the pervasiveness of child trafficking as a form of CSEC.

2.5 Child Trafficking

The trafficking of children for sexual purposes is the "recruitment, transportation, transfer, of children by abusive means such as force, abduction, fraud, and coercion, for an improper purpose such as coerced labor, servitude, slavery, or sexual exploitation" (Ives, 2001, p.6). The definition accepts trafficking even though the person might consent to it. The National Center for Missing and Exploited Children, estimates that at least 50,000 women and young girls are trafficked into the Unites States each year for sexual exploitation. In accordance with Ireland (1993), Klain (1999), & Davidson (2004), the popular destination countries to which children are trafficked include Canada, Czech Republic, Germany, Greece, Turkey, The Netherlands, Hungary, United Arab Emirates, Yugoslavia, and the United States.

Researchers, Scott & Harper (2006) observe that young girls get easily involved in the sex trafficking because they believe in what is out there. Many of these young girls respond to employment opportunities, which in reality they are not. Young girls get tricked and with the help of private companies are forced into prostitution. Klain (1999), estimate that 20% of children get recruited by private companies. Similarly, many girls get recruited by their own families (Klain, 1999).

The health risks and hazards associated with child trafficking are as deadly as any other form of commercial sexual exploitation. As indicated by Boxill & Richardson (2007), the constant emotion of fear, not feeling safe and emotional distress is a common anxiety in the child's being. AIDS and/or any other sexual transmitted diseases are present. Many children are running away from a hostile environment and entering into an even more violent and grotesque environment (Ives, 2001). Child sexual abuse is supported by brothels, employers, hotels, etc. According to Leal & Leal (2003), there are hidden networks behind legal and illegal trade companies that support child trafficking. Some of these companies are tourism, entertainment, transportation, fashion, businesses, service agencies, among many other that facilitate the commercial sexual exploitation of children. These networks are supported by technology which makes it easier to communicate, exchange information, recruit, and control their actions. Leal & Leal (2003), describe seven agencies that help out in the trafficking of children. These agencies are entertainment network, fashion market, employment agency network, marriage agency network, sex telemarketing networks, and tourism industry networks.

Relatedly, Leal & Leal (2003) found that these entertainment networks include malls, nightclubs, pubs, snack bars, disco clubs, massage parlors, etc. The owners to these places finance the child's trip and transportation to the destination city where these children will be prostituted. Once children arrive, they are provided with drugs and alcohol, while they are set up with a client. These children living under these conditions rarely have a chance to escape. There are people constantly watching them

and must adhere to the rules. These children must live with the constant threat of violence and physical threats. The threat is reinforced by the fact that they have not turned 18 years of age; their documents are taken away, and are unfamiliar with the city.

The next network is the fashion market. Model agencies are especially popular. Fashion model agencies often expose women and children to the world of prostitution. Leal & Leal (2003), suggest that when children are offered a better opportunity, they tend to take it without knowing that they will be exposed to prostitution. Many children are prostituted and taken from their families. These children are trafficked into a different country and identities are lost. Most often, model agencies will be the step to recruiting children into prostitution (Leal & Leal, 2003).

Likewise, employment agencies are networks that contribute to the trafficking of children. As indicated by Denisova (2001), employment agencies will place fake ads about employment and like this recruit children into prostitution. Girls are especially targeted. Jobs such as domestic servants, nannies, and escorts are advertised. Many girls replying for "idealized" jobs are later trafficked into another country and become sex slaves.

In addition, the next network would be marriage agency. This network includes two types of marriage. One type of marriage would be attracted by advertisements and the other would be by sexual tourism. In accordance with Arnold & Bertone (2002), Davidson (2004), Denisova (2001), Giron (n.d), Herzog (2007), Ireland (1993), Jeffreys (1999), among many other, reveal the issue of marriage and child prostitution. They all

agree that children when trafficked into a different country do not know that a contract has already been established between the person (at the agency) and the prospect. Children are surprised by the revelation that they have been sold; they are brutalized, raped, sodomized, beaten, and sometimes even killed (Voss, 1999). Children respond to these types of advertisements and are lured by the idea of a better life and better expectations. Their dreams disappear once they are engaged in violent situations and physical and sexual abuse.

Leal & Leal (2003) found that sex telemarketing networks such as newspaper, internet and TV ads help recruit children as well. Likewise, the last of network described by Leal & Leal (2003) is tourism industry network. Here, children are trafficked to a different country to be sexually exploited. Hotels, massage parlors, taxi drivers, and travel agencies serve as facilitators in the movement of child sexual abuse. Facilitators will earn a profit in the distribution of children and once children end up in a foreign country it is almost impossible for them to return or escape (Davidson, 2004). Their pimp or john will threaten to kill them or their family. Smolenski (1995) noted that another strategy that keeps children under the control of their pimp or john is the confiscation of legal documents to prevent the child from running away. Girls trafficked are particularly vulnerable to life threatening illnesses, early pregnancy, forced abortions, as well as AIDS. Human trafficking mostly made of women and children is a "growing 7 billion global business and reportedly the third most profitable illegal enterprise after the sale of guns and drugs" (Spangenberg, 2002, p.5).

Herbert (2007), Feldman (2007), and Spangenberg (2002), suggest that New York City is a popular spot to traffic girls. It has already been identified as a major point of entry. According to these authors, the three largest incoming groups of immigrants coming into New York City are from the former Soviet Union, the Dominican Republic, and Mexico. False documentation is acquired for the girls in order to travel overseas without the approval of the parents. International trafficking of children is very lucrative, a trafficker can earn up to 300,000 dollars. It includes many players involved such as, recruiters, trainers, transporters, etc. Staiger (2005) indicate that children from Africa, Asia, Soviet Union, especially Russia and Ukraine, South America and Mexico, are the number one clients to traffic children into the Unites States. In Mexico, they traffic undocumented children with the promise of legitimate work, but end up being prostitutes. The literature, Ireland (1993) also reveals that at various points along the routes, there may be personnel or professionals supporting this crime, such as, law enforcement officials, customs officers, and border guards.

2.6 Summary

Taken together, the review of the literature points toward several major observations. First, the different forms of child sexual abuse can severely endanger a child. Children are abducted, kidnapped, and coerced into prostitution. Second, the health risks these children face are immense. A sexually exploited child can suffer from malnutrition, malnourishment, respiratory problems, sexually transmitted diseases, AIDS, and even death. Third, a child exposed to child pornography will feel shame,

guilt, humiliation, and will become alienated from society. Fourth and final, according to the Regional Consultation for the Americas (2003), it is projected that in 20 years, 30 million of children will be sold for sexual exploitative purposes.

CHAPTER 3

METHODOLOGY

This chapter describes the methods used for the data collection and analysis. This section will include a discussion on typologies, coding frames, the master list, and other different methods used for the collection and analyzing of the data.

The first section will discuss typologies in the commercial sexual exploitation of children and how those typologies have been used in the social science research. The second section describes the methods and the sample employed as part of the process along with the creation of the master list. The third section illustrates inductive content analysis as a method for the purpose of this research and the last section on this chapter focuses on coding frames. Overall, this chapter is intended to help the reader understand the samples and methods used in the overall process of the research.

3.1 Typologies

Typologies are used in this research as part of the sorting and categorizing of the data obtained. A typology is the study or systematic classification of types that have characteristics or traits in common. In other words, it is the ordering of entities into groups according to their similarities (Bailey, 1994, p.2). Typologies do not necessarily reflect reality but is a useful tool in identifying trends in the literature. Typologies, then, can be very useful in the organization and compartmentalization of data.

Typologies have some advantages, according to Bailey (1994) their use allows the

researcher to provide an exhaustive list of possibilities. In sum, a typology allows the researcher to easily compare types and understand the similarities/differences between cases (Bailey, 1994, p.13). In criminal justice research, typologies have been used successfully by an array of researchers. Davidson (2004) has used typologies in categorizing offenders. Another researcher, John Rosecrance (1988), developed a typological schema to understand the "underworld" of presentence investigators in which his uses presentence reports to create typologies in which to categorize offenders. A former graduate, such as Lamour (2001), used typologies to aid in identification of themes and trends in the empirical literature. In other words, typologies offer the benefit of organizing and categorizing complex data.

3.2 The Sample

An initial search on the topic of the commercial sexual exploitation of children was done in order to come up with some sources. The data for the study was obtained from a "snowball" sample of relevant empirical and non empirical studies on the topic of child exploitation and abuse. The snowball sample helped to collect, identify, and categorize articles from 1990 to 2007. The articles were chosen according to their relation with the commercial sexual exploitation of children. From those sources, several keywords were obtained that helped in identification of more articles on CSEC.

3.2.1 Developing the Sample

For this research, the sample consists of a master list of relevant empirical and non empirical articles on the subject of child sexual exploitation and abuse. The

articles/studies on the topic were identified on the basis of a process known as "snowballing." Snowball sampling is defined as follows: is a multi-staged design in which existing sources provide the names of others sources to be sampled or reviewed (Sanders & Pinhey, 1983, p.124). The snowballing technique is very appropriate for the current research.

The snowballing technique in the study involved basically the following procedure:

- 1. The identification of current literature on the topic of child sexual exploitation and abuse from main stream journals.
- 2. The identification of other sources such as books, book chapters, technical reports, newspapers, magazines, etc. for the project.
- 3. The alphabetical listing of each article by author's name.
- 4. The separation of empirically versus non- empirically based articles.
- 5. The separation of each article by the different types of commercial sexual exploitation: child prostitution, child pornography, child sex tourism, and child trafficking for sexual purposes.
- 6. The categorizing of articles by the thematically orientation offered.

3.3 Master List

The master list represents the development of empirical articles that provided greater relevance to the research topic. The master list includes articles that were both empirically and non- empirically based. In a second sorting, some of the articles were

discarded because of their lack of information or relevance to the subject. In addition, sources with no identifiable theme or theoretical approach were also discarded.

3.3.1 Developing the Master List

To identify articles/publications for this research it was necessary to develop a systematic and organized process (see Berg, 1989). The criterion for the process is as follows:

- 1. Articles published in major journals as databases were reviewed.
- 2. Articles that were empirically based or non- empirically based were reviewed.
- 3. Articles from book chapters were excluded.
- 4. Articles from newspapers and magazines were excluded.
- 5. Articles with relevant information were included; the others were excluded.

3.3.2 First Phase (Method)

A general search of articles on the subject of child sexual exploitation or abuse was conducted in this phase. The snowballing method was used as the primary method of article identification. And was identified as the method of analysis. This was not an arbitrary process, but required the "systematic" search of each article based upon content.

3.3.3 Second Phase (Method)

After development of the initial master list, all cases were coded according to the type of commercial sexual exploitation: child prostitution, child pornography, child sex tourism, or child trafficking for sexual purposes. Next, articles were color coded

according to a variety of factors and different categories, including, themes, authorship, gender of author, methodologically or thematically oriented, etc. Once, all of the relevant articles had been identified, from their original bibliography new sources were obtained. When the researcher noted that many of the original publications had begun to re-appear the search was discontinued. Most importantly, any theme observed in review of each article was noted by a color tab.

3.3.4 Third Phase (Method)

As previously stated, the methodology employed to this research is known as snowballing sampling. In the final master list only journal articles, technical reports, book chapters, etc. on publications between the year 1990 and 2007 were included. Library searches and the review of many bibliographies were used to further refine the sample. Irrelevant references (articles) were eliminated if they had a related title, but no relevant content. This process reduces the final master list from 120 to 78 cases.

3.4 Analysis Procedure

The procedure used in the current study is a version of inductive content analysis. This method requires one to gather, collect, and organize data with examination for potential patterns (see Berg, 1989). The method in which this research is based will be on a content analysis of the empirical literature on the commercial sexual exploitation of children. The researcher searches for themes and or trends in the literature by inductive content analysis. The goal of the research was to make sense of the literature by

methodological approach and theoretical orientation. The content of analysis will amplify issues on the topic by exploring themes to emerge inductively.

According to Berg (1989) citing Holsti, content analysis is any technique for making inferences by systematic and objective identifying special characteristics of messages. This research tool helps to determine the presence of certain words or concepts within sources. These sources can be journals, book chapters, books, articles, technical reports, newspaper articles, etc. The researcher conducts a content analysis by breaking, separating, and coding data into various categories such as phrases, words, themes, etc. Content analysis is any technique for making references by systematically and objectively identifying special characteristics (Berg, 1989).

3.4.1 What Gets Counted: Units of Analysis

When conducting a qualitative research, several elements (units) can be considered. The unit of analysis is the major entity analyzed in the study (Babbie, 1998). Some units can be: themes, paragraphs, items, words, etc.

Theme: This is a broad idea in a story or a message or lesson conveyed by work (Berg, 1989).

Word: This is the smallest element or unit used in content analysis. Its use generally results in frequency distribution of specified words or terms (Berg, 1989, 112).

Paragraph: This represents the collection of related sentences dealing with a single topic (Berg, 1989).

For purposes of this research, the unit of analysis is the theme. In general, however, the form or type used depends upon the kind of information sought by the researcher.

In this research, the unit of analysis is the theme and as noted by Berg (1989), the theme represents an observation made by the researcher based upon inductive reasoning. As described by Abramson (1983) (as cited in Berg), the inductive approach begins with the researchers "immersing" themselves in the documents in order to identify themes in each message.

3.4.2 Analytical Induction

The process of analysis as for content analysis is commonly referred to as analytic induction. Analytical induction is a research logic used to collect data, develop analysis, and organize the presentations of research findings (Smelser & Bates, 2001). In other words, analytical induction refers to the researcher's ability to identify and code emergent themes in the literature. The burden is on the researcher to lift from the literature emergent themes and to offer examples of those observations in the review.

Overall, typologies are used in this research to organize and compartmentalize data. The snowballing method was used as a technique to create the master list for the project. The analysis procedure used in this research was an inductive content analysis which requires the gathering, collection, and organization of the data.

3.5 Disclaimer

The typological schema constructed in this research is based upon the reoccurring themes in commercial sexual exploitation of children may not necessarily provide an accurate representation of reality. On the other hand, the observations/ findings here reflect the researcher's systematic approach to the literature on the topic of CSEC.

CHAPTER 4

EMERGENT THEMES

In this thesis there were several themes that emerged from the literature review on the commercial sexual exploitation of children. The themes that will be discussed are poverty, family dysfunction, technology, legislation of laws, and culture. The themes are followed by identifiable sub- themes. These themes are discussed because they appear with the greatest frequency in the literature. By presenting and discussing only five themes, it is easier to offer a complete illustration for some, rather than a partial illustration for all. The next paragraph provides observations about the predominant emergent themes in the literature.

4.1 Poverty

According to Voss (1999), the underlying causes of commercial sexual exploitation of children are diverse and include economic injustice and disparities between rich and the poor, large scale migration and urbanization. Of the articles reviewed, 63% offered poverty as a theme in the commercial sexual exploitation of children (CSEC). Magazine and newspaper articles were more likely to identify the factors that induce CSEC. For example, Time magazine and The New York Times newspaper were sources of non- empirically based information that consistently identified poverty as a factor leading children into commercial sex. About 92% of the empirically based articles offered no theoretical orientation. In addition, 45% of the

articles with the theme of poverty included a methodological orientation. Ninety percent of the articles are written by males.

From this theme it was observed that children who are most likely to be exploited are within minority groups. Minority groups are most targeted; they come from low economic backgrounds. In the United States; however, many children from middle class background are more frequently sexually exploited. Children in the United States from low economic backgrounds are sexually exploited because of lack of resources and middle class children are sexually exploited because of the culture in which they live in and not necessarily because of poverty making them the most targeted group.

Poverty is a major factor that nevertheless leads children into the world of prostitution, as noted by Willis & levy (2002). The majority of these children who are sexually exploited come from poor families. Poverty, as observed by Fraley (2005), is the context in which children are forced, sold, tricked, lured, kidnapped, or trafficked into commercial sexual activities. By the term "poverty" it does not mean that all children living in poor conditions undertake this work; it is a factor; however, that pushes these children into prostitution. The 1st World Congress Against CSEC (2001) suggests that reductions in welfare and minimum wage levels are among the many pressures that lead children to work and live on the streets. Poverty creates the necessary conditions for children to become victims of CSEC. As noted by the Stockholm Congress Panel Report in some Latin American cities mothers as young as 12 or 13 years old who cannot support their children may turn into prostitution. Poverty appears to be the main reason that children enter the sex trade; they are poor, illiterate, and lack the protection of a structured family (Fraley, 2005, p.454).

Prostituted children are often responsible for providing financial support (income remittances) to their families (Willis & Levy, 2002, p.1418). Children are also affected by their immediate family members. According to Ireland (1993), some children are coerced or physically forced into sexual exploitation by their parents, who see it as a way of supplementing family income. Families may allow their children to be exploited with an expectation that additional income will be generated. In short, these children are sold by their parents for commercial sexual purposes. Some parents sell their children, not just for the money, but also in the hope that their children will be escaping poverty and face a better future. One example of this theme is provided by Farid (2000), children of poor families, by nature of their poverty, are less likely to be protected and thus face a higher risk of commercial sexual exploitation. These parents end up selling their own children for a few hundred dollars. Some parents will even sell their children in order to obtain modern comforts and luxury items (Fraley, 2005, p.455). Poverty creates a sense of enormous debt and desperation for families resulting in breakdown of family structure. As observed by Voss (1999), many families and communities have been forced to migrate to urban centers resulting in exploitative labor, unemployment, and homelessness, like that pressuring children to contribute to the welfare of the family by any means necessary. Another observation of this theme is reflected in the research of Denisova (2001) who suggests that a lack of stable income, unemployment, unavailability of basic goods have caused women to sell their children in order to survive. Klain (1999) observes that networks of agents encourage impoverished parents to give up their children in return for financial support. Many of these children live on the streets and do not attend school. These conditions can be attributed to the economic

development that has exasperated enormous inequity and preconditions for child exploitation. In accordance with the 2nd World Congress Against CSEC (2001) children between 12 and 18 sometimes trade sex for official papers, privileges for the family, clothes, food, protection as well as for cash. Children are among those most vulnerable to the effects of poverty and sexual abuse.

Homeless children also represent an easy target in being sexually exploited. Poverty plays a principal role and factor in homeless children (Ives, 2001, p.7). Money, as for the child on the streets, might be the only way of surviving. As Kasirye (n.d.) notes that the major targets of commercial sex are in slum and street children where sex is exchanged for food or money. These children have very few means of earning money and are most likely to be sexually exploited by adults. Poverty means lack of opportunities. Another example of this theme is illustrated by Kasirye (n.d.), who observes that due to lack of food, clothing and other basic needs, these children are abused by adults and engage in sex with multiple partners for survival. These children represent an especial vulnerable group both in terms of the reasons for their coming to and being on the streets and what could happen to them. Among runaway and homeless children, up to one third reported engaging in street prostitution or survival sex to achieve the basic necessities of life (Klain, 1999, p.3). These children, according to Kasirye (n.d.), are seen to be particularly at risk of HIV/AIDS/STD infection because of the special circumstances of their situations. These children pose the largest group of children at risk of exploitation. Another characterization of this theme is reflected in the work of Klain, Davies & Hicks (2001), who observes that children are living in street places without any money or shelter; they are vulnerable to adult exploiters who are

constantly searching for children in these places. The next section describes globalization as a sub theme.

4.1.1 Globalization

Within the literature, there were four sub themes identified. One apparent sub theme to articles that identified poverty as a theme is the issue of globalization. As suggested by End Child Prostitution, Child Pornography and Trafficking, (ECPAT 2003), globalization has contributed to the growth of poverty and inequity in developing countries. Over the past years the world has been characterized by debt problems. Under these conditions, countries are forced to face a currency devaluation and reduction of fiscal deficits by the reduction of government spending on public health and education. These consequences are felt most profoundly at the household level. Families lose control and no longer exist on a survival basis. ECPAT (2003) notes that new cash cropping businesses have not provided the levels of rural employment needed to ensure that all families have sufficient income for adequate access to housing, food, shelter, etc. In turn, this creates a need for parents or guardians to work excessive hours, their children become unattended and left alone with risk of sexual exploitation by adults.

The globalization has resulted in changed values. One good characterization of this sub theme is offered by ECPAT (2003), implying that in developing countries, their change at the community level is occurring rapidly as a result of rapid urbanization, environmental degradation and the push to link into the global economy. Increased consumerism and materialism has placed enormous pressure on families and children to earn money outside their traditional means (ECPAT, 2003). Families want more of what

is out there and the desperation to have some of those goods will drive them desperate. Children are among those most vulnerable to the effect of poverty, discrimination, and sexual exploitation. Children are forced into commercial sexual exploitative activities to economically support their family. In a second characterization, Jeffreys (1999) states that people in third world countries loose traditional resources such as land, paid labor and/ or other means of income and a permanent sub proletariat is created and an increase in child labor is demanded. The commercial sexual exploitation of children becomes a primary street child phenomenon; children's bodies are bought for money, food, clothes, or school fees (Jeffreys, 1999, p.508).

As indicated by Voss (1999), in industrialized countries, macro social and economic factors appear to be important determinants in CSEC. An increase has been noted in CSEC in undergoing structural adjustment; social, political and economic upheavals have caused an increase in economic disparities. A third characterization to the sub theme is according to Roby (2005) where poverty contributes to commercial sexual exploitation of children; these children do not attend school in order to work under slave conditions, or on the streets where survival may require sexual services to other street dwellers. These children are exposed to a widespread and systematic abuse which in turn leaves them isolated and vulnerable to sexual exploitation (Voss, 1999, p.2). Children from poor communities are at a greater risk of becoming sexually exploited. These children represent the large number of kids living and working on the streets. As observed by Jeffreys (1999), the choice of prostitution is socially and politically constructed out of poverty, child sexual abuse, homelessness, and family obligation. Next, unemployment is discussed as a sub theme as well.

4.1.2 Unemployment

Many children, especially girls, respond to employment opportunities.

Unemployment is a factor that is correlated with poverty which is a strong leading cause to CSEC (Voss, 1999, p.2). The lack of employment or vocational opportunities provides constraints on family structures and children as well. One example of this sub theme is provided by Hughes (2001), who observes that many children reply to posted jobs in newspapers or online ads offering lucrative job opportunities in foreign countries for low-skilled jobs, such as waitresses and nannies. However, what they do not know is that these employment opportunities are false. The youth are tricked into prostitution by the belief that they will be employed. In yet, another example by the 1st World Congress Against CSEC (1996) reveals that children are tricked and lured into thinking that they will work in a coffee shop or restaurant to earn money to send back to the family but instead are sold to brothels as sex slaves. These children are in a desperate search for employment and become easy targets and prey for child abusers.

The lack of skills and age makes it harder for children to find an appropriate job in the environment. The constant pressure to provide support to another member of their family or their own self makes their situation vulnerable and easy to prey on. As confirmation, Klain (1999) makes the point that children's young age, lack of education, and lack of the necessary street sense to survive alone contributed to the need to engage in survival sex. The sex is used in exchange for food, shelter, money, or protection. Having few marketable job skills many children turn to prostitution as a means of surviving in the streets (Klain, 1999, p.2). Put simply, these children are isolated from

the mainstream of society and the pressures developed of life on the streets will make these children fall into false tramps.

In addition, lack of education is a sub theme contributing to CSEC.

4.1.3 Lack of Education

As observed by Farid (2000), an inability to afford schooling pushes children into further risk of sexual abuse, since they are most likely to be exposed to harmful environments. A lack of education means fewer opportunities to gain job opportunities and forces children into the sex industry as a means of earning money. This sub theme is illustrated by Farid (2000), who states that the lack of education is an impediment of opportunities, deepens their poverty, and widens inequality and lack opportunities. Their lack of education makes them vulnerable to the will of adults. Moreover, families with low education hurt their ability to make wise decisions about child bearing and rearing. According to Farid (2000), families cannot afford schools. Education is a high expenditure for the poor and the quality of education they receive become unlimited. This situation prevents them from overcoming poverty. On the other side, communities are often reluctant to intervene due to lack of education. According to United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF, 2006), in cases of sexual exploitation communities rarely interact due to lack of knowledge, understanding, fear, and/or intimidation. Communities are not aware or do not have a sense of what is going on with children.

4.2 Family Dysfunction

Dysfunctional families contribute for children to become the targets of sexual exploitation. As observed from the final master list, 60% of articles identified family dysfunction as a theme in the commercial sexual exploitation of children. Divorced parents or physical abuse within the family represent examples of family dysfunction. Eighty three percent of the empirically based articles versus non- empirically based articles offered family dysfunction as a theme. Of empirically based articles, 35% included a methodological approach and only 20% of those articles provided a theoretical explanation. Most of the articles are written by men.

Personal risk factors as family conflicts are linked to the problem of CSEC. In addition, there is a strong correlation between a 'care' history and experiencing sexual exploitation (Ward & Patel, 2006, p.344). The literature, Denisova (2001) suggest that where there is a high concentration of people under one household, levels of family conflicts increase. Family dysfunction creates the necessary conditions for children to be sexually exploited. These children when at home are mistreated, when in the streets they are also mistreated; they don't see the difference, they think it is normal. Another characterization of this theme is offered by Ward & Patel (2006), who maintain that combined risk factors of family dysfunction and stress, result in children seeking solutions to their problems outside of the home and family. Children run away from home in order to escape the abuse. Fang (2005) observes that from 1.5 million children that are involved in prostitution, nearly a third of these children are runaways. Children engaging in the streets look for that belonging and nurture which is missing within the context of their family (1st World Congress Against CSEC, 1996). A child with a

dysfunctional family in their lives makes them more vulnerable to sexual exploitation. Familial abuse not only scars children, but also plays a role in driving children away from their homes, which in turn leads to the children's rootless ness (Ives, 2001, p.15). Kids run away from home because of domineering parents and/ or are being physically or sexually abused; some of these children are kicked out by their own parents. Any kind of abuse within the family increases the chance of children becoming more vulnerable to exploiters out there.

Children whose parents are separated or divorced, children who have parents with drug or gambling problems, and finally children who have lost a parent or both are at a higher risk of sexual exploitation (1st World Congress Against CSEC, 2001). As another example of this theme offered by Roby (2005) also suggests that factors leading children to sexual exploitation include family breakdowns, poor family relationships, abuse and neglect in the home, and substance abuse by their parents. There is a greater risk of commercial sexual exploitation when another family member is or has been involved. Many families repeat the pattern with more than one child (Roby, 2005, p.139).

The next section highlights prior sexual abuse as a sub theme.

4.2.1 Prior Child Sexual Abuse

Sexual abuse has a significant impact on the probability that runaway children will become involved in prostitution. This sub theme is best illustrated by Farid (2000), who found that 61% of children had been sexually abused in their childhood; the abusers, usually are family members or close friends. Similarly, Klain (1999) observes that sex abuse indirectly increases the chance of prostitution. Not only does sexual abuse of a

child will make them vulnerable to sexual exploitation but combined with other family tensions and emotional deficiencies will likely increase the probability.

Increasingly, studies are finding that children involved in commercial sexual activities in both industrialized and developing countries tend to come from broken homes and/or from abusive family environments where they have suffered from some source of abuse (2nd World Congress against CSEC, 2001). This breakdown will force the child to survive alone in the streets or become a provider and supporter for the family. Any type of abuse can also make these children runaway from home and end up vulnerable out in the streets to commercial sexual exploitation and/ or abuse. Another example of this sub theme was provided by the National Center for Missing and Exploited Children (2002), which states that previous abuse, results in increased vulnerability and a sense of isolation, betrayal, and alienation all played a role in the juvenile's inability to reject prostitution.

According to Roby (2005), researchers link the growth of street child prostitution to widespread violence against girls suffering continued male incest at home. Indeed, 60% of children in prostitution in England were sexually abused before they began working in the sex trade (Roby, 2005, p.139). In a third example of this sub theme, Fang (2005), reveals several stories that are from children in prostitution, these children either had parents who were divorced and the girls were raped by their mother's boyfriends or stepbrothers. Similarly, Lillywhite & Skidmore (2006) found out that five out of the seven male children had been sexually abused prior to their sexual exploitation; the same number had parents with alcohol problems. These children were constantly raped by immediate family members. Ives (2001) describes specifically that children involved in

prostitution have several commonalities, a history of family dysfunction (including sexual abuse), running away from home and surviving in the streets. There is substantial information of research from many countries that show a link between child sexual exploitation and / or emotional, physical, and/or sexual abuse by family members.

The next section discusses another sub theme in the literature on family dysfunction.

4.2.2 Drug Abuse

Children that runaway from their families and homes are exposed to living dangerous conditions out in the streets. Children socializing in the streets become familiar with drugs. According to the 2nd World Congress Against CSEC (2001), children may seek psychoactive substances to relive the pain of a dysfunctional environment, or caused by sexual exploitation. Drugs and alcohol become an escape to their everyday struggles. One good characterization of this sub theme is observed by Kasirye (n.d.), who reveals that drug abuse culture plays a functional role among the children to escape daily problems, reduce stress; it serves as a cure for their health maladies. As indicated by Ives (2001) in Mexico drugs have become central to the exploitation of children. Children become addicted to drugs and will find their way to prostitution to pay for their addictions. Drug use is a mode of survival for children because it helps them face the dangers and challenges of being on the street comfortably (Kasirye, n.d., p.2). Children constantly use drugs to over fight emotions of distress and loneliness. Similarly, as illustrated by the 2nd World Congress Against CSEC (2001), states that the child's response to this type of abuse is to seek and meet those needs in the "society and family" of street children and treat their own wounds with substance abuse such as glue, alcohol, or any other narcotic. According to Kasirye (n.d.), the buying, selling and use of drugs is one of the major factors behind the growing demand for service of child sex workers because one facilitates the other.

Given the high rate of substance abuse among child prostitutes the "sex for crack" is not surprising (Klain, 1999, p.6). The presence of drugs in low urban income neighborhoods has increased. This in turn leads to the increase of child prostitution as well. Drugs will be exchange for sex. An example of this sub theme is illustrated by Klain (1999), who observes that crack houses are centers for sex- for- drug exchanges. The pimp or dealer of the house may facilitate the process; receive sex in exchange for shelter. The pimp is willing to provide drugs as a way to control these children. These children are not only servants but sex slaves as well. As Klain (1999), observes that a child of 14 is given food and a room to sleep and all the drugs the child may want in exchange for any type and amount of sex. Sexually exploited children have a higher risk of substance abuse, and substance abuse places these children at a higher risk for prostitution, which makes it a double risk for children who are in the streets.

The next section describes technology as a major theme to the literature of CSEC.

4.3 Technology

Technology facilitates the sexual exploitation of children. Photography, Internet, videography, etc. are used as a means to sexually exploit children. The literature reveals that 40% of the articles highlight technology as a theme and of those articles only 35% were empirical based. The articles that present technology as a theme only 30% present a

methodological orientation and not a theoretical orientation. The articles that identified technology as a major theme were written primarily by men at an 80%.

New technology has made it easier for children to become sexually exploited around the world. New technology such as computers, print media, video tape, CD-ROM, DVD, compact disc, Internet, etc has offered an easier and accessible way to sexually exploit children (Klain, Davies & Hicks, 2001, p.1). Technology has become sophisticated, cheap and easily accessible. Anyone who has access to a computer and the Internet has access to on-line services and 30 million people out there. One example of this theme is offered by Jeffreys (1999), since the late 1980's there has been a growing dissemination and diversification of pornography through cable television, dial- a- porn, home video, and computers, and child exploitation images can be shared over the internet through downloadable media, email, peer to peer sharing servers, mp3 players, cell phones and other emerging technologies. In the next section, computers are represented as a vital part of the technology, that is, widely used in the sexual exploitation of children (Sharedhope International, 2006).

4.3.1 Computer

New computer technology allows for the reproduction of child pornography (Klain, Davies & Hicks, 2001, p.1). With inexpensive software, child exploiters can easily transfer images of children into explicit sexual images and make them available right away. Moreover, pictures can be scanned and video clips can be captured into a computer without any loss. Images can be altered by a computer. This observation is confirmed by Klain et al (2001) who go on to explain that a computer can also be a

valuable tool in storing images under password protected. The prices on the software for the computers are cheap. The cost for producing and distributing images become cheap and easier to do. Computers are in the privacy of a home which makes it doubly accessible.

Computers make child pornography easier. People now have the time, resources, and intelligence to operate a computer. Computers have become highly accessible at schools, work, and home. Furthermore, one good characteristic of this sub theme is offered by the 2nd World Congress Against CSEC (2001), which explains that children have the expertise to handle computers without supervision of their parents and like that become easily accessible to those who wish to sexually molest minors.

4.3.2 Digital Cameras

Digital cameras have made it easier in producing and distributing images of sexually exploited children without any need for development of film (1st World Congress Against CSEC, 1996). This type of technology allows one to develop images in his/her home; predators at home and with the use of a printer have less of a hard time in printing images with fast results. Images can be stored on disks, computer hard drives, and/or memory cards. The camera is compact and can be concealed easily. Everyday cameras are becoming cheaper and affordable by more people. By owning a personal camera, it is not questioned by anyone, any thoughts of malicious intentions.

The next paragraph introduces the Internet as a sub theme in the literature of technology.

4.3.3 Internet

According to a UNICEF Report 2007, the internet has increased access to child pornography and information about sex tourism and mail order brides (brides that are ordered and paid online). The Internet has made it easier for pimps, child exploiters, or pedophiles to exchange information and recruit children.

The internet provides services such as e-mails and chat rooms. As suggested by the 2nd World Congress Against CSEC (2001), chat rooms are where child sex abusers look to trade, swap, or otherwise acquire child pornography. The child abuser will go into a chat room looking for children to prey on. The abuser will befriend the child and try to meet him/her on person. One example of this sub theme is reflected in an observation by Klain et al (2001), who observed that e-mails are now used as a way to communicate with a child. Messages are sent back and forth promoting the child to engage in sexual activity. E-mails reduce the cost of local telephone and instantly receive messages around the world, and when hooked up to an available camera or scanner it turns into an equipped multimedia system (1st World Congress Against CSEC, 2001).

Another illustration of this sub theme indicated by the 2nd World Congress

Against CSEC (2001) states that computer bulletin boards or newsgroups can be set up exclusively to exchange information about sexual interest in minors. Newsgroups are the number one source of publicly available child pornography. In some countries, there is no need to have a license in order to establish a bulletin board and like that making the job easier for pedophiles. As Klain (1999) suggest that travel agencies, internet, chat rooms, message boards, and certain organizations, not only encourage child-sex tourism but give detailed instructions on how to partake it. Through the internet, sex tourists can

communicate and learn about "special" hotel accommodations and sex tour options (Fraley, 2005, p.455). By the use of the Internet, the child abuser is able to purchase plane tickets to travel to far places; the pervasiveness problem of child sex tourism has increased. As suggested by Davidson (2004), the internet provides information on travel and prostitution in various countries around the world, pornographic material, and message boards to interchange experiences. Technology has promoted the international child sex industry as well as child pornography.

The following section covers the fourth theme in the literature of CSEC, identified as culture.

4.4 Culture

Attitudes, customs, and/ or practices condone the demand for the commercial child sexual exploitation of children. The theme of culture is identified in 45% of the empirically based articles. Thirty five percent of the articles with this theme had a methodological orientation and none listed an identifiable theoretical orientation. Mostly males (83%) wrote the articles on this subject compared to 17% of females.

One characteristic of this theme is offered by UNICEF (2007) who suggest that communities may reject children who have been sexually exploited, making it more difficult for children to look for a way out. Communities because of lack of understanding will reject children. UNICEF (2007) also observes that many community members want to hide the truth about CSEC, perhaps because they benefit in some way or because of shame. Society because of economic disparities rejects and feels hostile towards displaced persons (Orlova, 2004, p.14).

The manifestation of this theme is *best* reflected in a variety of sub themes: discrimination, traditions, education, and morality.

4.4.1 Discrimination

A tradition of low respect for females and the belief that they can be treated as properties belonging to male relatives are huge factors in the objectification of women and girls (Roby, 2005, p.138). When it comes to discrimination, girls are profoundly affected by CSEC. The culture that we live in is constantly reminding us that females must be submissive, that is the traditional belief. UNICEF (2007) suggest that some traditions as child marriage and the unequal treatment of girls, make the sexual exploitation of children more likely to occur and more acceptable. Females are exposed to exploitation in almost every aspect because of inequality. An example of this sub theme is illustrated by Snell (2003), who notes that inequality provides fertile ground to the expansion of domestic work. Girls working under these conditions are often sexually abused by their employers.

According to the 1st World Congress Against CSEC (1996), all contemporaries societies teach their members to believe that gender differences and inequality is natural rather than socially and politically constructed. Children, especially girls suffer from maltreatment and stigmatization. As an example, Orlova (2004) notes that some girls who are educated and have work experience also face sexual harassment and discrimination on the job, a lack of alternative employment opportunities all propel them toward the traffickers.

Females may be viewed as not having the potential to earn good money through legitimate sources. Therefore, according to UNICEF (2007), girls are less likely to be educated and as a result enter the informal work sector sooner than their male counterparts. By not being provided with educational opportunities it becomes harder for them to get a well paid job. In some communities; however, a female may represent the earning potential for the family, through sexual exploitation. As UNICEF (2007) observed that an ominous warning with regard to the value of women can be sacrificed for the benefit of the family. In other words, prostituted children will become the number one earner of the family if there is no stop to CSEC.

4.4.2 Traditions

One good characteristic of this sub theme is illustrated by the 2nd World Congress Against CSEC (2001) who maintains that there are communities where children are put into sexual servitude to religious or tribal elders in atonement for adult wrongdoings. Cultural integrity is not questioned within their communities; they think it is the right thing to do. In some communities early marriage is widely encouraged and accepted. In some countries, for example, girls are arranged to get married before they are 10 years old. Another example of this theme is provided by Klain (1999) who notes that parents want to establish a family for their children for protection and economic security. As the 2nd World Congress Against CSEC (2001) describes, there is a strange lack of logic in this explanation, but logic is not necessarily present when tradition and culture are cited. Even though the act is penalized it will still be carried out by a large proportion of society because tradition will make it right to be done. It is common for such practices to be

defended on cultural grounds, and in many countries practices are based on ideas of female inferiority and the need to control their labor and reproduction (1st World Congress Against CSEC, 1996). Children become commodities for families and society.

Other tradition as noted by the 1st World Congress Against CSEC (1996), can be observed in Latin America, Africa, and Europe; fathers usually take their boys at the age of fifteen or younger to engage in sex with an adult prostitute. Machismo is associated with the following tradition, the boy at puberty, will be introduced to sexual activities. The boy is sexually abused by the father figure and gets money in exchange. Likewise, the same happens with armed conflict. Military men usually working in poor and extremely dangerous conditions and separated from all that are familiar to them, believed that masculinity is demonstrated through the performance of sexual acts (2nd World Congress Against CSEC, 2001). The girls; however, are treated as objects and are forced to engage in sexual acts with these men. Another example to this sub theme is reflected in the work of Klain (1999) who observes that sex trade flourished as a result of soldiers on leave from nearby bases and young girls were inevitably caught up in meeting the demand. It is especially in these settings that men feel the pressure to prove their masculinity by engaging in commercial sexual abuse of a girl. The men take an active prominent role in exploitative sexual relations. Jeffreys (1999) notes that massive child prostitution industries have developed in response to the large U.S. military presence in Saigon, Thailand, and Philippines. When a culture has a more relaxed attitude about sex, then there is more likely for child sexual abuse to occur.

4.4.3 Education

Families and communities are not aware of the pervasiveness of CSEC and public awareness on the issue is limited. Communities are not aware of the risks associated with CSEC. As noted by Roby (2005), families and communities must be educated in order for them to be provided with options when faced with financial crisis instead of selling their children to the sex trade. According to a UNICEF information sheet (2007), communities are often reluctant to intervene in cases of child abuse due to lack of knowledge, understanding, fear, or intimidation. It appears ignorance and "twisted values" will persuade adults to sexually exploit children.

Ignorance in society is creating an increase in the commercial sexual exploitation of children. As an example of this sub theme, the 2nd World Congress Against CSEC (2001), suggest that in societies where education is limited and where messages of sex education are weak, CSEC tends to appear more frequently. Families sometimes do not imagine what is going to happen when they sell their child for physical labor, they are ignorant, they do not know that these children are sexually exploited; their health, psychological, physical, and emotional well being are at risk.

The next paragraph discusses morality as a sub theme in the literature of culture.

4.4.4 Morality

According to Denisova (2001), a decline in public morality such as family violence, increased aggression and violence, and the growth of pornography industry promotes the demand of CSEC. The decline in morality, ethics, and values in society has led to an increase of deviant behavior. The 1st World Congress Against CSEC (1996),

suggests the disintegration of values, blamed by some on the exchange of information between the countries of the world, together with social upheaval and increasing disparities in wealth has contributed in the increasing phenomenon of CSEC.

Cultural beliefs make CSEC more prevalent. How? The observation is supported by Farid (2000), whose research suggests the belief that having sexual intercourse with children is rejuvenating obviously gives a pretext to the demand for CSEC. These beliefs have even become institutionalized and socially accepted. Farid (2002) describes the adult's belief that through sexual intercourse with children, magical power will be gained. Furthermore, there is an increased demand for sex with children because it is believed they are more likely to be AIDS free (Ireland, 1993, p.267). In one last observation about this theme, Sharedhope (2006) describes that in some Asian cultures, adults will engage in sexual intercourse with a child because they think that will cure them from HIV/AIDS without even thinking about the consequences of infecting a child.

4.5 Legislation of Laws

While laws, policies, and programs exist to fight the problem of CSEC, there is still a need for adequate laws that will address child victimization and not criminalize their acts. The literature identifies the impact of legislation in 62% of the empirically based articles. The non- empirically based articles identified this theme by 85% of the time. Overall, only 43% of the articles with this theme offered a methodological orientation. Most of the articles were written by males (75%).

Historically, there has been an unequal application of laws prohibiting child prostitution (National Center for Missing and Exploited Children, 2002, p.11). Laws

have proved largely ineffective against the commercial sexual exploitation of children. One example of this theme is highlighted by Klain (1999) in which he maintains that laws are not enforced or that the laws have little deterrent value. Greater political will and stronger implementation measures are needed. Similarly, according to Roby (2005) laws must provide clear definitions and target those who are directly and indirectly profiting from it while providing legal and social protection for the victims. Legislation must address the gaps in the procedural problems in order to provide effective outcomes. Relatedly, these laws are as effective as their enforcement. Enforcement is not always possible due to lack of will, funding, personnel, etc. As Roby (2005), suggests that there seems to be a lag between legislation and their effective enforcement because of attitudes of disrespect for women and girls, insufficient funding and even "policy conspiracy" in the profit-taking. He observes that the system is so corrupted that the enforcement of laws would be difficult because there would be no benefit for those profiting from child sexual abuse.

The 2nd World Congress Against CSEC (2001) maintains that there is inaccurate data on investigations and prosecutions of cases of sexual abuse. Sentencing policy is inconsistent between nations and states. Restated, legislation and sentencing is weak. According to Klain (1999), other contributing factors to CSEC include government "corruption and collusion, absence of or inadequate national laws, law- enforcement measures and limited sensitization of law-enforcement personnel. Authorities are known to be weak and easily bribed. Failures in political commitment and the misuse of power by those in authority are significant contributions to CSEC.

Another illustration of this major theme is offered by Ireland (1993), who reveals that very few foreigners have ever been convicted for the sexual abuse or exploitation of children and in some cases deportation is the maximum response which is used sparingly. The system frequently forgets to enforce punishments. Davidson (2004) maintains that in order to pursue the policy of deporting abusers rather than prosecuting them does not help. This means that many citizens in Ireland who are caught sexually abusing children can return home and continue to live their lives. In Ireland, legal systems commonly fail to prevent injustice towards children or to protect them from criminal acts and systems of governance more often than not display indifference toward exploitation of children (Voss, 1999, pg.1).

Another example of this theme is offered by Denisova (2005), who states that government instability, political conflicts, and the perception that government does not have the ability to adequately protect or prosecute criminals have had a number of negative consequences. Similarly, Voss (1999) suggests that in many cases governments directly tolerate sex tourism in pursuit of economic development. Moreover, laws currently are prosecuting child victims instead of addressing and meeting their needs (Voss, 1999). In most instances, 'child prostitutes' are portrayed as criminals. ECPAT (2006) states that while child prostitution is considered a crime, the child is generally held liable under state law. Many state laws face the dilemma of whether treating children as criminals or as victims. However, federal laws state that children must be treated as victims no matter what (ECPAT, 2006, p.17). State laws and federal laws must work together in order to treat children as victims. ECPAT (2006) suggest that the

absence of a national level plan against CSEC to guide and support common understanding and action impedes the rights of sexually exploited children.

Taken together, the literature offered many themes in the literature but only five major themes were identified to provide a better and complete understanding of this phenomenon. Poverty, family dysfunction, technology, culture, and the impact of legislation were discussed along with their sub themes from the literature because they appeared at a greater frequency. All themes emerge from a thematic content analysis of the empirical literature on CSEC. Peculiar and ironic observations were found throughout the literature. These observations will be furthered discussed in the following section.

CHAPTER 5

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

A review of the literature reveals many themes; at least five of the major themes have been identified by the author. The major themes include poverty, family dysfunction, technology, culture, and the impact of legislation. The identification of these themes points towards trends in the literature on the sexual exploitation of children. In addition, the identification of these trends helps to point toward shortcomings in the literature and areas of concern for the general public and policy makers.

One observation made from the literature was that policy makers and enforcers are aware of the problem but little is done to prevent or control it. There appears to be awareness of the problem but it is not addressed as a priority issue. Laws are been passed as time progresses but there is little or no full enforcement on these laws. Many of these laws are not emphasizing the root of the problem. As one example, when offenders are caught and are not citizens of that country, in 8 out of 10 cases, the offender will not be prosecuted where the crime took place and will be deported to his/her country without further prosecution from either of both countries (Davidson, 2004). These laws seem to be made just to show the public that the problem is addressed when on the other hand, children are still sexually exploited at an increasing rate.

International regulations are not enforced everywhere, it depends on local laws and regulations to do more for their children. It is as if laws are not helping and the only

way to help these children is by individuals forming non-profit organizations to address the phenomenon of CSEC. There is no sufficient cooperation between law enforcement agencies to reduce the gap in problems associated with administrative and financial concerns in reducing or controlling the problem.

In addition, it appears legislation is difficult to enforce because of inadequate funding. Money is not adequately allocated. Without any monetary support, there is little that can be done to address the problem. Even though policy makers would want to address the problem, there still wouldn't be any positive outcomes due to lack of organization and priority issues, which also highlights another problem area. In other words, even if money were available, it would probably be allocated in some other field than to the field of child sexual abuse. Maybe child sexual abuse cannot be seen as a priority as a homicide would. The way money is administered to different types of crime is probably not the correct one. The administrative process of allocating this problem as a priority might not get the adequate funding to battle child sexual abuse.

Another disturbing observation is the enormous problem of ignorance within society. An apparent lack of education in our society is causing extreme consequences affecting our children. Individuals will take on actions that may not be considered deviant behavior to them but result in great damage because they are not aware of the consequences those actions bring about. In some cultures, for example, many African people have sex with kids because they think they will get cured from AIDS/HIV. The individuals responsible for this particular behavior are not aware of the consequences, and it has been around for the past decades.

Another part of the problem tends to be the customs and traditions in many underdeveloped nations. Engaging in sex at an early age is often persuaded by the immediate family members. In Hispanic cultures, for example, boys are encouraged to engage in sex with another girl in order to defend his "machismo." The boy is taken by the dad to a prostitute in order for the boy to show his masculine side. (See source), Another tradition would be the early marriages of girls in order to pay family debts. These traditions result in the sexual exploitation of children.

One ironic observation shows that some of the laws inadvertently target children as if they were criminals, or responsible for their own abuse, or responsible for their own exploitation. Law enforcement agencies enforce their laws by targeting children sexually exploited instead of the offenders that are manipulating these children into engaging in this type of behavior. This results, for example, in the criminalization of children for acts that is not their fault. In most of the time, for example, law enforcement agencies address the problem by penalizing children for their behavior. There is certainly not a conceptual agreement when it comes to categorize who is the victim and who is the offender. There is no way the commercial sexual exploitation of children be controlled or prevented when laws are not enforced in the appropriate manner. Children are the victims and not the offenders.

The literature also reveals that poverty continues to be an issue. Children are marginalized and used as a commodity, which results in physical and sexual exploitation. The lack of employment and education creates a gap in economic prosperity and an extreme pressure on families. Families are pushed over their own

limits. Many parents sell their kids to adults as sex slaves or labor slaves as a way to keep surviving. Children become the easy way out for family economic problems and an exit to their parent's difficulties in life. Poverty is a never ending story that will continue to create burdens on children.

Another observation in the literature is the existence of physical, emotional, and/or sexual abuse within the family. The base foundation of morals in the family is decreasing every day. The concept of respect for one another is diminishing. Children are growing up in an abusive environment, where they lack attention and love. These children are easy prey for exploiters. Their vulnerability and weakness makes them an easy target to catch. Exploiters and/or abusers are looking for children with these characteristics. The irony here is that children are the ones that suffer the most and most likely to be manipulated by offenders.

New technology is discovered and utilized without considering the risks it can create. There is no thinking as to what side effects new products can bring.

Technology is helpful and a good resource that will help solve many problems today and in the future, but it is a double sword, it can also facilitate the abuse and exploitation of children. As new inventions and creations will be discovered, human minds will try and figure out how to facilitate their encounter with children.

Other observation is that few women are writing on the subject. Female writers might be able to make contributions by writing on the subject because; females in this phenomenon tend to be the most targeted. Their perceptions of the problem may serve as a basis for different areas of explorations. More than anything else (as male and

female writers may not differ), there is no doubt that there are fewer female authors.

Contribution of more people writing in this matter will surely will make a difference.

In another comment about the author's review of the empirical literature, there are concerns about the media coverage on the commercial sexual exploitation of children. The media can portray stories of children in a compassionate/ ethical way or perpetuate sexual exploitation of children in an inappropriate way. To support the observation above, TV news or films do not portray the issue underlying CSEC in an appropriate and sensitive way, it is more important to address celebrity issues rather than a sexual abused child. Media can often ignore the phenomenon and cover some other news instead. From time to time in some rare cases, the media will portray child abuse cases and alert the public. However, this does not happen constantly. The audience may become desensitized to horrific scenarios of CSEC. It seems more important to portray celebrity personal, than to portray the on going realities of sexual abuse and exploitation of children. The media in this case, either helps the public understand the phenomenon or distorts children's images. Relatedly, child exploitation is not considered a popular topic for the media, unless it involves children in scandalous stories that will bring them high ratings for their program. CSEC is often treated as entertainment for the public than as a real threat to our community and children. The media can easily turn around the audience attention to frivolous news instead of raising awareness within the audience on this phenomenon (See ECPAT 2001). In other words, the media will grasp the audience attention by portraying issues related to celebrities, fashion, etc. but have little effect on dehumanizing issues such as child

sexual exploitation and/ or abuse. On the other hand, the media clearly has the capacity to inform the public and raise awareness.

The themes and problems identified focus attention to some of the strengths and shortcomings in research; the themes identified here also point toward underlying problems frequently associated with the commercial sexual exploitation of children. At this juncture, we explore potential policy issues. While policy issues reveal failures, researchers in journal articles advocate and recommend certain policy fixtures.

5.1 Policy Issues and Recommendations

Based upon problems (and issues) identified through out this research, the following recommendations are proposed:

- 1. Local authorities should develop and disseminate a detailed protocol on sexual exploitation of minors and promote cooperation between agencies to identify young people at risk.
- 2. Training should be provided for service providers, law enforcement, and other government officials.
- 3. Creating empowering images through peer role models in rehabilitative services for child sexual abuse victims.
- 4. A global awareness campaign should be conducted to raise public concern.
- 5. Legislation must provide clear definitions and target those directly and indirectly profiting from CSEC and rehabilitative services for victims of CSEC.
- 6. Grant initiatives should be persuaded and adequately allocated in the field of CSEC.
- 7. More qualitative studies with a theoretical orientation and methodological approach should be enforced.

8. Additional research on CSEC is needed as a way to stay informed and updated on children's issues.

In addition, local authorities should be familiar with risk factors associated with CSEC. Local authorities should become familiar with the phenomenon of CSEC. This would require agencies to research the issue in deed depth and gather an understanding of the problem. Law enforcement agencies need to be updated on information that may help prevent, control, or identify child sexual abuse cases. Law enforcement agencies need to create cooperation among other agencies as well. By sharing intelligence and expertise, greater outcomes can be achieved. Partnerships must be formed in order to maximize utilization o resources, duplicate efforts, and achieve greater positive results.

Training should be provided as a way to prepare agencies to be pro- active and not reactive to the problem. Training is essential because it provides the person with the mental capacity and sense to work out the problem. Having the capacity to make decisions based on previous guidance and training can provide greater positive outcomes. Training sessions should provide agency officials with information on what to look for in risk cases. With training, agencies will be able to identify potential sexual abuse cases and provide victims with support sources. This training should provide agencies with a capacity to explain victim's rights and services potentially available to them (See Spangenberg, 2002). Training will help improve skills and gain experience.

Multidisciplinary teamwork training has direct impact on victims of trafficking as it enables integrated services. The training along with multidisciplinary teams will include key professionals with a diverse range of skills and expertise. On the base of

their specialization, they should play specific roles in the rehabilitation and reintegration of a child, as well as in the prosecution process.

Likewise, training modules should contain awareness raising, a comprehensive description of the phenomenon, and detailed interventions and measures needed to be taken. The combination of theory and practice should be approached when it comes to complex laws and procedures. The training manual should adopt a human rights approach.

Although there are guaranteed methods in combating child sexual exploitation/abuse, prevention projects can be created. Peer to peer models seem to have better results. A peer- to peer communication approach aimed at portraying adolescent's behaviors and views reinforces a sense of identification within the target population. The impact of the message can increase considerably. Children need to be employed in the campaign in order for those victims to identify more easily with the problem and get help quicker.

Raising awareness within the public creates a step forward in preventing situations where children are the victims. Many people in communities are still not aware of the situation and some of them are uninformed. The community does not know what is really going on. Families and communities must be educated on the topic as well. They must be provided with information about the harmful effect of sexual abuse and exploitation. Vocational training against the commercial sexual exploitation of children should be disclosed. If society is not informed then it does no good for

agencies because there is no mutual cooperation between society and social services.

Lack of cooperation will increase the sexual exploitation of children.

In order to reach the widest possible section of the population, a multi-media approach needs to be implemented. Some products that can be used are audio-visual products, media, and print advertisements. For example, visual products raising awareness can be presented through TV. Small clips or films showing the dangers of child sexual exploitation/ abuse can be presented during prime time and during times when children are watching as well as in closed circuit television. The radio can transmit the audio track of the same TV clip. The audio message must reach remote areas of the country in order to target population more effectively. Likewise, print media can also be used. Print media can send messages or hints of child sexual exploitation/ abuse and can be posted on billboards, posters, pamphlets, etc and be distributed within the public. This approach should be done at a national level. For example, billboards can target people's attention. Child sexual abuse announcements can be advertised in buses, especially in buses that travel to remote areas where child sexual exploitation/ abuse is more prevalent. These places can include beaches, ports, urban sectors in all provinces and tourist cites. Moreover, pamphlets or stickers can be placed in immigration offices where there is a constant movement of people. In addition, the Internet can also serve as an aid in informing the public of this phenomenon. A website should be provided concerning child sex tourism, pornography, prostitution, and trafficking for sexual purposes; a confidential electronic form on which to anonymously report cases to the police. The examples above would provide greater results.

Legislation of laws must provide clear definitions of its purpose. Territorial laws must be passed so that offenders violating overseas laws can be arrested and extradited back to their countries of origin and be convicted under the laws of the country where the offense occurred. However, laws are only as effective as their enforcement. Effective enforcement must be promoted as a priority. The laws can only be as effective as their implementation. The goal is to directly target those individuals profiting from this type of abuse and convicting them of their crime.

There needs to be an existence of a legal and policy framework facilitating the multi-disciplinary approach put into practice. This can bring greater results with a long term impact at policy level. The interests of the child should be a primary consideration when it comes to legislation.

Rehabilitative services should be provided at all times. Consideration needs to be given to the specific situation of each child victim, their rights and needs have to be accounted for. The services need to be filled with people with skills and expertise. For example, physicians, psychiatrists, social workers, psychologists, law enforcement, judges, etc. These professionals should create a safe gathering for group discussion; they need to conduct assessment of participants, increase awareness of child rights, and provide public health education as well as health services. Moreover, social reintegration should be provided as well as long term interventions as a way to help these children cope with the problem. Long term commitment and funding is essential

to provide continuous services. Likewise, there should be evaluations of existing programs and interventions in order to test their achievements and like that create criteria that can help identify future treatment and prevention services.

Adequate funding must be administered as a way to address this problem.

Funding is not only needed to address victims but to support the training of staff.

Funding is needed to provide services to victims and young people at risk of sexual exploitation. By having the necessary money to fill in the gaps, more positive outcomes can be accomplished. Additional funding that specifically restricts research interventions to include a methodological approach can provide victims with additional sources for their rehabilitation and an increase in victim's rights and victim- friendly procedures. Additional resources can be created with extra allocated money.

Stronger research designs should be encouraged by grant funded research.

Qualitative studies with a theoretical and methodological orientation should be approached. Qualitative studies help us gather a deeper understanding on complex issue. Qualitative studies with these characteristics and with the child's participation will provide a more in depth understanding of the phenomenon; more beneficial results if those studies include a theoretical and methodological orientation. Further research needs to be conducted.

Moreover, research that examines the process by which individuals, family, friends, community, and/ or social factors will help society understand the causes of child sexual abuse and/ or exploitation. Likewise, it is also important to address diverse populations in order to improve the quality of future prevention and intervention efforts.

5.1.1 Concluding Remarks

One thing that I did understand is that children are victims and are sexually molested, abused, and raped. They are not active participants and that external force pushes children into becoming victims of predators. I still know that I'm not fully knowledgeable on the topic and that there are more things out there that need to be explored, that is why I recommend more research studies with a theoretical and methodological approach.

With these personal observations in mind, recommendations were offered throughout this chapter. These recommendations represent attempts to identify problems that require immediate attention.

APPENDIX A

FINAL MASTER LIST

FINAL MASTER LIST

- Andrews, S. K. (2004). U.S. Domestic Prosecution of the American International Sex

 Tourist: Efforts to Protect Children from Sexual Exploitation. *Journal of Criminal Law & Criminology*, 94(2), 415.
- Bailey, K. D. (1994). *Typologies and Taxonomies: An Introduction to Classification Techniques*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Barnitz, L. (2001). Effectively Responding to the Commercial Sexual Exploitation of children: A Comprehensive Approach to Prevention, Protection, and Reintegration Services. *Child Welfare*, 80(5), 597-610.
- Barr, C. W. (1996). Sexually Exploited Youths Draw World's Vigilance. *Christian Science Monitor*, 88(188), 10.
- Beckett, K. (1996). Culture and the Politics of Signification: the Case of Child Sexual Abuse. *Social Problems*, *43*(1), 57-76.
- Boxill, N. A., & Richardson, D. J. (2007). Ending Sex Trafficking of Children in Atlanta.

 *Affilia: Journal of Women and Social Work, 22(2), 138-149.
- Brown, K. (2006). Participation and Young People Involved in Prostitution. *Child Abuse Review*, 15, 294-312.

- Burgess, A. W., & Grant, C. A. (2001, March). *Children Traumatized in Sex Rings* (3-88-009). Philadelphia, Pennsylvania: National Center for Missing & Exploited Children.
- Chidley, J., & Paras, W. (1996, September 2). A Fight to Save Children. *End Child Prostitution in Asian Tourism*, 103(36), 20. Retrieved 03/28/2007, from Academic Search Premier database (9609047860).
- Cohen, D. A. (1999). Kidnapped Culture. *Journal of Social History*, 677-387.
- Davidson, J. (2004). 'Child Sex Tourism': An Anomalous Form of Movement? *Journal of Contemporary European Studies*, 12(1), 31-46.
- Denisova, T. A. (2001). Trafficking in Women and Children for Purposes of Sexual Exploitation: the Criminological Aspect. *Trends in Organized Crime*, *6*, 30-36.
- ECPAT International (2006). Global Monitoring Report on the Status of Action against

 Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Children. Thailand: End Child Prostitution,

 Child Pornography and Trafficking of Children for Sexual Purposes.
- Fang, B. (2005, October 24). Young Lives for Sale. *U.S. News & World Report*, 139(15), 30-34. Retrieved 03/28/2007, from Academic Search Premier database (18564560).
- Farid, M. (2001). Sexual Abuse, Sexual Exploitation, and the Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Children in Indonesia. In (1st Ed.), (pp. 1-5). Retrieved September 24, 2007, from http://www.preda.org
- Fraley, A. (2005). Child Sex Tourism Legislation Under the Protect Act: Does it Really Protect? *St. John's Law Review*, 79(445), 445-483.

- Goddard, C., De Bortoli, L., Saunders, B. J., & Tucci, J. (2005). The Rapist's Camouflage: 'Child Prostitution'. *Child Abuse Review*, *14*, 275-291.
- Grant, A., David, F., & Grabosky, P. (2001). Current Issues in Criminal Justice. *The Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Children*, 12(3), 269-287.
- Greenfeld A. L., U.S. Department Of Justice (1996, March). *Child Victimizers: Violent Offenders and Their Victims* (NCJ-158625). Maryland: Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.
- Hames, M. (1993). Child Pornography: A Secret Web of Exploitation. *Child Abuse Review*, 2, 276-280.
- Ireland, K. (1993). Sexual Exploitation of Children and International Travel and Tourism.

 Child Abuse Review, 2, 263-270.
- Ives, N. (2001, December). Final Report from the North American Regional Consultation on the Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Children. Philadelphia, Pennsylvania:

 University of Pennsylvania School of Social Work.
- Jeffreys, S. (1999). Globalizing Sexual Exploitation: Sex tourism and the Traffic in Women. *Leisure Studies*, *18*, 179-196.
- Jeffreys, S. (2000). Challenging the Child/Adult Distinction in Theory and Practice on Prostitution. *International Feminist Journal of Politics*, 2(3), 359-379.
- Kasirye, R. (2006). Interface of Substance Abuse and Child Prostitution: Intervening in the Lives of Slum and Street Children in Kampala- Uganda. (pp. 1-7). Retrieved September 20, 2007, from http://mentorfoundation.org

- Kelly, L. (2005). "You Can Find Anything You Want" A Critical Reflection on Research on Trafficking in Persons Within and Into Europe. *International Migration*, 43, 235-265.
- Klain, E. J. (1999, April). *Prostitution of Children and Child Sex Tourism: An Analysis of Domestic and International Responses* (1-99-019). Alexandria, Virginia: National Center for Missing and Exploited Children.
- Klain, E. J., Davies, H. J., & Hicks, M. A. (2001, March). *Child Pornography: the Criminal Justice System Response* (3-01-021). Alexandria, Virginia: National Center for Missing and Exploited Children.
- Kuo, M. (2000). Asia's Dirty Secret: Prostitution and Sex Trafficking in Southeast Asia.(pp. 42-45). : Harvard International Review.
- Massachusetts Child Exploitation Network (1995, January). *Child Sexual Exploitation: Improving Investigations and Protecting Victims*. Massachusetts: Education

 Development Center.
- Munir, A. B., & Yasin, S. H. (1997). Commercial Sexual Exploitation. *Child Abuse Review*, 6, 147-153.
- National Center for Missing and Exploited Children (2002, November). Female Juvenile

 Prostitution: Problem and Response (11-02-013-2). Alexandria, Virginia:

 National Center for Missing and Exploited Children.
- Lanning, K. V. (2001, September). *Child Molesters: A Behavioral Analysis* (2-86-005-4). Alexandria, Virginia: National Center for Missing and Exploited Children.
- Lebloch, E., & King, S. (2006). Child Sexual Exploitation: A Partnership Response and Model Intervention. *Child Abuse Review*, *15*, 362-372.

- Lillywhite, R., & Skidmore, P. (2006). Boys are Not Sexually Exploited? A Challenge to Practitioners. *Child Abuse Review*, *15*, 351-361.
- Lloyd, R. (2005). Acceptable Victims? Sexually Exploited Youth in the U.S. *Encounter:*Education for Meaning and Social Justice, 18(3), 6-18.
- Orlova, A. V. (2004). From Social Dislocation to Human Trafficking: the Russian Case. *Problems of Post- Communism*, 51(6), 14-22.
- Rekart, M. L. (2005). Sex-Work Harm Reduction. The Lancet, 366, 2123-2134.
- Roby, J. L. (2005). Women and Children in the Global Sex Trade: Toward More Effective Policy. *International Social Work*, 48, 136-147.
- Santos, O. (1996). Sale of Children Must Be Eliminated. *United Nations Chronicle*, 33(2), 61.
- Scott, S., & Harper, Z. (2006). Meeting the Needs of Sexually Exploited Young People: the Challenge of Conducting Policy-Relevant Research. *Child Abuse Review*, *15*, 313-325.
- Shared Hope International (2006, September 18). *The United States Mid-Term Review*on the Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Children (3). Vancouver: Shared Hope
 International.
- Smolenski, C. (1995). Sex Tourism and the Sexual Exploitation of Children. *Christian Century*, 112(33), 1-4.
- Snell, C. L. (2003). Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Youth in South Africa. *Journal of Negro Education*, 72(4), 506-514.
- Spangenberg, M. (2002). International Trafficking of Children to New York City for Sexual Purposes. Brooklyn, New York: ECPAT-USA.

- Staiger, I. (2005). Trafficking in Children for the Purpose of Sexual Exploitation in the EU. *European Journal of Crime*, *13*(4), 603-624.
- Steele, P. D., Damon, N., & Denman, K. (2004, November). *Child Sexual Abuse on New Mexico Tribal Land* (212236). New Mexico: New Mexico Criminal Justice Analysis Center.
- Van Bruggen, L. K., Runtz, M. G., & Kadlec, H. (2006). Sexual Revictimization: the Role of Sexual Self-Esteem and Dysfunctional Sexual Behaviors. *Child Maltreatment*, 11(131), 131-145.
- Voss, M. L. (1999). *The Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Children* (pp. 1-9). Brooklyn, New York: ECPAT-USA.
- Ward, J., & Patel, N. (2006). Broadening the Discussion on 'Sexual Exploitation':

 Ethnicity, Sexual Exploitation and Young People. *Child Abuse Review*, 15, 341-350.
- Willis, B. M., & Levy, B. S. (2002). Child Prostitution: Global Health Burden, Research Needs, and Interventions. *The Lancet*, *359*, 1417-1422.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Alexander, S., Meuwese, S., & Wolthius, A. (2000). Policies and Developments Relating to the Sexual Exploitation of Children: The Legacy of the Stockholm Conference. *European Journal on Criminal Policy and Research*, 8(4), 479-501.
- Akula, S.L. (2006). Situational Analysis Report on Prostitution of Boys in India.

 Hyderabad: ECPAT International.
- Ali, M., & Sarkar, R. (2006). The Boys and the Bullies: A Situational Analysis Report on Prostitution of Boys in Bangladesh. Bangladesh: ECPAT International.
- American Psychological Association. (2001). *Understanding Sexual Abuse: Education,**Prevention, Recovery. Retrieved March 30, 2007 from

 http://www.apa.org/releases/sexabuse/homepage.html
- Andrews, S. K. (2004). U.S. Domestic Prosecution of the American International Sex

 Tourist: Efforts to Protect Children from Sexual Exploitation. *Journal of Criminal Law & Criminology*, 94(2), 415.
- Armagh, D.S., & Batagglia, N.L. (2006, December). *Use of Computers in the Sexual Exploitation of Children* (NCJ 214167). Washington: Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.
- Azaola, E. (2000, June). *Boy and Girl Victims of Sexual Exploitation in Mexico*. (pp.1-137). UNICEF-DIF.

- Azaola, E. (2006). The Sexual Exploitation of Children in Mexico. *Police Practice and Research*, 7(2), 97-110.
- Bailey, K. D. (1994). *Typologies and Taxonomies: An Introduction to Classification Techniques*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Barnitz, L. (2001). Effectively Responding to the Commercial Sexual Exploitation of children: A Comprehensive Approach to Prevention, Protection, and Reintegration Services. *Child Welfare*, 80(5), 597-610.
- Barr, C. W. (1996). Sexually Exploited Youths Draw World's Vigilance. *Christian Science Monitor*, 88(188), 10.
- Beckett, K. (1996). Culture and the Politics of Signification: the Case of Child Sexual Abuse. *Social Problems*, 43(1), 57-76.
- Berg, B. L. (1989). *Qualitative Research Methods for the Social Sciences*. Needham Heights, MS: Allyn & Bacon.
- Boxill, N. A., & Richardson, D. J. (2007). Ending Sex Trafficking of Children in Atlanta. *Affilia: Journal of Women and Social Work*, 22(2), 138-149.
- Brown, K. (2006). Participation and Young People Involved in Prostitution. *Child Abuse Review*, 15, 294-312.
- Burgess, A. W., & Grant, C. A. (2001, March). *Children Traumatized in Sex Rings* (3-88-009). Philadelphia, Pennsylvania: National Center for Missing & Exploited Children.

- Callinan, R. (2006, March 19). *Generation Exploited*. Retrieved May 1, 2007, from http://www.time.com/time/magazine/article/0,9171,1174745,00.html
- CBS News. (2005, February 23). *Rescued from Sex Slavery*. Retrieved April 30, 2007, from
 - http://www.cbsnews.com/stories/2005/02/23/48hours/printable675913.shtml
- Chidley, J., & Paras, W. (1996, September 2). A Fight to Save Children. *End Child Prostitution in Asian Tourism*, 103(36), 20. Retrieved 03/28/2007, from Academic Search Premier database (9609047860).
- Cohen, D. A. (1999). Kidnapped Culture. Journal of Social History, 677-387.
- Davidson, J. (2004). 'Child Sex Tourism': An Anomalous Form of Movement? *Journal* of Contemporary European Studies, 12(1), 31-46.
- Demause, L. (1998). The History of Child Abuse. The Journal of Psychohistory, 25(3).
- Denisova, T. A. (2001). Trafficking in Women and Children for Purposes of Sexual Exploitation: the Criminological Aspect. *Trends in Organized Crime*, *6*, 30-36.
- Dottridge, M. (2002). Trafficking in Children in West and Central Africa. In S. Williams & R. Masika (Eds.), *Gender, Trafficking, and Slavery* (2 ed., pp. 38-42). London: Oxfam Publication.
- Dougherty, J. (2007, April 24). 60 Years Later, Pain Still Fresh for WWII Sex Slave.

 Retrieved May 1, 2007, from

 http://www.cnn.com/2007/WORLD/asiapcf/04/27/comfort.women/index.html

- ECPAT International (2002). Expert Consultation on Public Health Strategies to

 Prevent and Mitigate the Global Health Impact of Child Prostitution. USA: End

 Child Prostitution, Child Pornography and Trafficking of Children for Sexual

 Purposes.
- ECPAT International (2006). Global Monitoring Report on the Status of Action against

 Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Children. Thailand: End Child Prostitution,

 Child Pornography and Trafficking of Children for Sexual Purposes.
- ECPAT International (2006). Schools for Johns: Addressing the Demand for Commercial Sex. (pp. 1-7). Brooklyn, New York: End Child Prostitution, Child Pornography and Trafficking of Children for Sexual Purposes-USA.
- Estes, R.J. (2001, August). *The Sexual Exploitation of Children: A Working Guide to the Empirical Literature*. Philadelphia, PY. Center for Youth Policy Studies.
- Fang, B. (2005, October 24). Young Lives for Sale. *U.S. News & World Report*, 139(15), 30-34. Retrieved 03/28/2007, from Academic Search Premier database (18564560).
- Farid, M. (2001). Sexual Abuse, Sexual Exploitation, and the Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Children in Indonesia. In (1st Ed.), (pp. 1-5). Retrieved September 24, 2007, from http://www.preda.org
- Feldman, C. (2007, April 24). *Report Finds 2,000 of State's Children Are Sexually Exploited, Many in New York City*. Retrieved April 26, 2007, from http://www.nytimes.com/2007/04/24/nyregion/24child.html

- Finkelhor, D., Mitchell, K. J., & Wolak, J. (2000, June). *Online Victimization: A Report on the Nation's Youth* (6-00-020). Alexandria, Virginia: National Center for Missing & Exploited Children.
- Fraley, A. (2005). Child Sex Tourism Legislation Under the Protect Act: Does it Really Protect? *St. John's Law Review*, 79(445), 445-483.
- Friedman, S.A. (2005). Who is there to help us? How the System Fails, Sexually Exploited Girls in the United States. Brooklyn, NY: ECPAT International.
- Giron, G.L., (2003). Underexposed Child Sex Tourism Industry in Guatemala. *Kennedy School Review*, 59-62.
- Goddard, C., De Bortoli, L., Saunders, B. J., & Tucci, J. (2005). The Rapist's Camouflage: 'Child Prostitution'. *Child Abuse Review*, *14*, 275-291.
- Grant, A., David, F., & Grabosky, P. (2001). Current Issues in Criminal Justice. *The Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Children*, 12(3), 269-287.
- Greenfeld A. L., U.S. Department Of Justice (1996, March). *Child Victimizers: Violent Offenders and Their Victims* (NCJ-158625). Maryland: Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.
- Hames, M. (1993). Child Pornography: A Secret Web of Exploitation. *Child Abuse Review*, 2, 276-280.
- Herbert, B. (2006, November 20). *Bought and Sold*. Retrieved April 27, 2007, from http://www.select.nytimes.com

- Herbert, B. (2006, October 19). *Young, Cold and for Sale*. Retrieved October 19, 2006, from http://select.nytimes.com
- Hernandez, R. (2001, September 10). *Children's Sexual Exploitation Underestimated,*Study Finds. Retrieved April 27, 2007, from http://www.select.nytimes.com
- Hughes, D. M. (2001). The "Natasha" Trade: Transnational Sex Trafficking. *National Institute of Justice*, 8-15.
- Hughes, J. (1996). Removing the Veil of Slavery and Exploitation. *Christian Science Monitor*, 88(212), 19.
- Hunt, P., & Baird, M. (1990, May). Children of Sex Rings. *Child Welfare*, 69(3), 1.

 Retrieved 03/24/2007, from Academic Search Premier database (00094021).
- Instituto Costarricense de Turismo (2003). Regional Consultation for the Americas on the Protection of Children from Sexual Exploitation in Tourism. San Jose, Costa Rica.
- Ireland, K. (1993). Sexual Exploitation of Children and International Travel and Tourism. *Child Abuse Review*, 2, 263-270.
- Iton, A., Oliver, M.M., Torgensen, K., & Bailey, S. (2001). Preventing Sexual Exploitation of Children and Teens. *Journal of Law, Medicine, and Ethics*, 38-39.
- Ives, N. (2001, December). Final Report from the North American Regional

 Consultation on the Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Children. Philadelphia,

 Pennsylvania: University of Pennsylvania School of Social Work.

- Jeffreys, S. (1999). Globalizing Sexual Exploitation: Sex tourism and the Traffic in Women. *Leisure Studies*, *18*, 179-196.
- Jeffreys, S. (2000). Challenging the Child/Adult Distinction in Theory and Practice on Prostitution. *International Feminist Journal of Politics*, 2(3), 359-379.
- Jones, V., & Skogrand, E. (2006, October). *Visible Evidence, Forgotten Children*.

 Brussels: Save the Children Europe Group.
- Joseph, C. (1995). Scarlet Wounding: Issues of Child Prostitution. *Journal of Psychohistory*, 23(1).
- Kasirye, R. (2006). Interface of Substance Abuse and Child Prostitution: Intervening in the Lives of Slum and Street Children in Kampala- Uganda. (pp. 1-7). Retrieved September 20, 2007, from http://mentorfoundation.org
- Keen, J. (2006, July 27). Child Prostitution Cases Reveal Cruel Underworld. *USA Today*, 4. Retrieved 03/28/2007, from Academic Search Premier Database (0734-7456).
- Keller, C. (2005, September). Fighting Child Prostitution. Sojourners Magazine, 1.
- Kelly, L. (2005). "You Can Find Anything You Want" A Critical Reflection on Research on Trafficking in Persons Within and Into Europe. *International Migration*, 43, 235-265.
- Klain, E. J. (1999, April). *Prostitution of Children and Child Sex Tourism: An Analysis of Domestic and International Responses* (1-99-019). Alexandria, Virginia:

 National Center for Missing and Exploited Children.

- Klain, E. J., Davies, H. J., & Hicks, M. A. (2001, March). *Child Pornography: the Criminal Justice System Response* (3-01-021). Alexandria, Virginia: National Center for Missing and Exploited Children.
- Kuo, M. (2000). Asia's Dirty Secret: Prostitution and Sex Trafficking in Southeast Asia. (pp. 42-45). : Harvard International Review.
- Lamour, K. M. (2001). *Emergent Themes in Boot Camp Literature*. Unpublished thesis, University of Texas at Arlington.
- Landesman, P. (2004, January 25). Sex Slaves on Main Street. *The New York Times*, 6, 30.
- Lanning, K. V. (2001, September). *Child Molesters: A Behavioral Analysis* (2-86-005-4). Alexandria, Virginia: National Center for Missing and Exploited Children.
- Lanning, K. V., & Burgess, A. W. (1995, March). *Child Molesters Who Abduct:*Summary of the Case in Point Series (3-95-018). Alexandria, Virginia: National Center for Missing and Exploited Children.
- Leal, M.L., & Leal, M.F. (2003, July). Study on Trafficking in Women, Children and Adolescents for Commercial Sexual Exploitation in Brazil. Brazil, Cecria.
- Leal M. L, & Leal, M. F. (2003, July) Studying on Trafficking in Women, Children and Adolescents for Commercial Sexual Exploitation in Brazil. (85-70-62). Brasilia: IHRLI.
- Lebloch, E., & King, S. (2006). Child Sexual Exploitation: A Partnership Response and Model Intervention. *Child Abuse Review*, *15*, 362-372.

- Lederer, L. J. (1996). Poor Children Targets of Sex Exploitation. (pp. 1-2). : National Catholic Reporter.
- Lillywhite, R., & Skidmore, P. (2006). Boys are Not Sexually Exploited? A Challenge to Practitioners. *Child Abuse Review*, *15*, 351-361.
- Lloyd, R. (2005). Acceptable Victims? Sexually Exploited Youth in the U.S. Encounter: Education for Meaning and Social Justice, 18(3), 6-18.
- Massachusetts Child Exploitation Network (1995, January). *Child Sexual Exploitation: Improving Investigations and Protecting Victims*. Massachusetts: Education

 Development Center.
- Mikhail, S. L. (2002). Child Marriage and Child Prostitution: Two Forms of Sexual Exploitation. In S. Williams & R. Masika (Eds.), *Gender, Trafficking and Slavery* (2 ed., pp. 43-49). London: Oxfam Publication.
- Milloy, M. (2002). Girls, Interrupted: the Terrible World of Child Prostitution- the War on Girls. (pp. 1-6). : Essence Communications.
- Muhammad, T., & Zafar, N. (2006). Situational Analysis Report on Prostitution of Boys in Pakistan. Lahore & Peshawar: ECPAT International.
- Munir, A. B., & Yasin, S. H. (1997). Commercial Sexual Exploitation. *Child Abuse Review*, 6, 147-153.
- Nathan, D. (2005, August 29). *Oversexed*. Retrieved April 30, 2007, from http://www.thenation.com/doc/20050829/nathan

- National Center for Missing and Exploited Children. (1998). *Exploited Child Unit* [Brochure]. Alexandria, Virginia.
- National Center for Missing and Exploited Children (2002, November). *Female Juvenile Prostitution: Problem and Response* (11-02-013-2). Alexandria, Virginia: National Center for Missing and Exploited Children.
- National Center for Missing and Exploited Children. (2003). *Preventing the Sexual Exploitation of Children* [Brochure]. Alexandria, Virginia.
- Orlova, A. V. (2004). From Social Dislocation to Human Trafficking: the Russian Case. *Problems of Post- Communism*, 51(6), 14-22.
- Paris, M. (1993, June 21). *The Skin Trade*. Retrieved May 1, 2007, from http://www.time.com/time/magazine/article/0,9171,978751,00.html
- PBS. (2006, February 7). *Sex Slaves*. Retrieved April 30, 2007, from http://www.pbs.org/wgbh/pages/frontline/slaves/etc/sypnosis.html
- Peterson, J. (2004). "Don't Trust me with your Child": Non-legal Precautions when the Law cannot Prevent Sexual Exploitation in Youth Sports. *Texas Review of Entertainment & Sport Law*, 5(2), 297-323.
- Poter, R.H., & Poter, L.A. (2006). The Internet, Cyber porn, and Sexual Exploitation of Children: Media Moral Panics and Urban Myths for Middle-Class Parents?

 Sexuality and Culture. (pp. 31-48). Atlanta, GA.

- Poudel, M., & Smyth, I. (2002). Reducing Poverty and Upholding Human Rights: A Pragmatic Approach. In S. Williams & R. Masika. *Gender, Trafficking, and Slavery* (2 ed., pp. 80-86). London: Oxfam Publication.
- Pressel, D. M. (2000, May 15). *Evaluation of Physical Abuse in Children*. Retrieved March 15, 2007, from http://www.aafp.org/afp/20000515/3057.html
- Rekart, M. L. (2005). Sex-Work Harm Reduction. *The Lancet*, 366, 2123-2134.
- Rivers, D. (2007). *Girl, 6, Embodies Cambodia's Sex Industry*. Retrieved April 30, 2007, from http://cnn.com/2007/WORLD/asiapcf/01/23/sex.workers/index.html
- Roby, J. L. (2005). Women and Children in the Global Sex Trade: Toward More Effective Policy. *International Social Work*, 48, 136-147.
- Rosecrance, J. (1987). A Typology of Presentence Probation Investigators.

 International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology, 31, 163-177.
- Sachs, A. (2006, October 22). *Tough Subjects and Teens*. Retrieved May 1, 2007, from http://www.time.com/time/mgazine/article/0,9171,1549289,00.html
- Sanders, W. B., & Pinhey, T. K. (1983). *Conduct of Social Research*. New York, NY: CBS College Publishing.
- Santos, O. (1996). Sale of Children Must Be Eliminated. *United Nations Chronicle*, 33(2), 61.

- Scott, S., & Harper, Z. (2006). Meeting the Needs of Sexually Exploited Young People: the Challenge of Conducting Policy-Relevant Research. *Child Abuse Review*, 15, 313-325.
- Serrill, M. S. (1993, June 21). *Defiling the Children*. Retrieved May 1, 2007, from http://www.time.com/time/magazine/article/0,9171,978725,000.html
- Shared Hope International (2006, September 18). *The United States Mid-Term Review* on the Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Children (3). Vancouver: Shared Hope International.
- Smolenski, C. (1995). Sex Tourism and the Sexual Exploitation of Children. *Christian Century*, 112(33), 1-4.
- Smolenski, C. (2002, April 11). Expert Consultation on Public Health Strategies to

 Prevent and Mitigate the Global Health Impact of Child Prostitution. Brooklyn,

 New York: ECPAT-USA.
- Smith, L. (2006). Report from the U.S. Mid-Term Review on the Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Children in America. 1-40.
- Snell, C. L. (2003). Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Youth in South Africa. *Journal of Negro Education*, 72(4), 506-514.
- Spangenberg, M. (2002). International Trafficking of Children to New York City for Sexual Purposes. Brooklyn, New York: ECPAT-USA.

- Spun, B. (2002). Closed Doors and Childhoods Lost: Many Experts Believe Cases of Child Pornography and Prostitution are on the Rise. *Insights on the News* (pp. 1-7). : Insight on the News.
- Staiger, I. (2005). Trafficking in Children for the Purpose of Sexual Exploitation in the EU. *European Journal of Crime*, *13*(4), 603-624.
- Steele, P. D., Damon, N., & Denman, K. (2004, November). *Child Sexual Abuse on New Mexico Tribal Land* (212236). New Mexico: New Mexico Criminal Justice Analysis Center.
- UNICEF Innocenti Research Centre (2005). *Trafficking for Sexual Exploitation and other Exploitative Purposes*. Florence, Italy. UNICEF
- UNICEF (2006). Commercial Sexual Exploitation [Brochure]. Worldwide.
- UNICEF (2006). Child Sexual Abuse and Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Children in the Pacific: A Regional Report. Suva, Fiji: UNICEF.
- UNICEF. (2007). Retrieved September 20, 2007, from The United Nations Children's Funds Web Site: http://www.unicef.org
- U.S. House of Representatives (2007, January). Sexual Exploitation of Children over the Internet (109-F). Washington: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- U.S. House of Representatives (2005, June). *Protection against Sexual Exploitation of Children Act of 2005, and the Prevention and Deterrence of Crimes against Children Act of 2005* (109-33). Washington: U.S. Government Printing Office.

- Van Bruggen, L. K., Runtz, M. G., & Kadlec, H. (2006). Sexual Revictimization: the Role of Sexual Self-Esteem and Dysfunctional Sexual Behaviors. *Child Maltreatment*, 11(131), 131-145.
- Van Brunschot, E.G., & Brannigan, A. (1997). Youthful Prostitution and Child Sexual Trauma. *International Journal of Law and Psychiatry*, 20(3), 337-354.
- Voss, M. L. (1999). *The Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Children* (pp. 1-9). Brooklyn, New York: ECPAT-USA.
- Ward, J., & Patel, N. (2006). Broadening the Discussion on 'Sexual Exploitation':

 Ethnicity, Sexual Exploitation and Young People. *Child Abuse Review*, 15, 341-350.
- Weiner, N. A., & Estes, Richard J. (2001, September 18). *The Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Children*. Philadelphia, PA: University of Pennsylvania.
- Willis, B. M., & Levy, B. S. (2002). Child Prostitution: Global Health Burden, Research Needs, and Interventions. *The Lancet*, *359*, 1417-1422.
- Wolak, J., Finkelhor, D., & Mitchell, K. J. (2005). *Child-Pornography Possessors*Arrested in Internet-Related Crimes: Findings From the National Juvenile

 online Victimization Study (06-05-023). Alexandria, Virginia: National Center

 for Missing and Exploited Children.
- Wolak, J., Mitchell, K., & Finkelhor, D. (2003, November). *Internet Sex Crimes against Minors: the Response of Law Enforcement* (10-03-022). Alexandria, Virginia:

 National Center for Missing Exploited Children.

- Wolak, J., Mitchell, K., & Finkelhor, D. (2006). *Online Victimization of Youth: Five Years Later* (07-06-025). Alexandria, Virginia: National Center for Missing and Exploited Children.
- World Congress against Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Children. (1996).

 Declaration *and Agenda for Action*. Retrieved September 12, 2007, from http://www.csecworldcongress.org/en/toc.htm
- World Congress against Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Children. (2001).

 Declaration and Agenda for Action. Retrieved April 12, 2007, from http://www.csecworldcongress.org/en/toc.htm

BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

The author was born July 12, 1983. In December 2005, she received her Bachelor of Arts in Criminal Justice and Political Science at the University of Texas at El Paso. In order to pursue her interests in Criminology, she moved to Arlington, Texas where she received her Masters of Criminology and Criminal Justice at the University of Texas at Arlington in December 2007. She currently works for the U.S Federal Government as a Paralegal Specialist. She will pursue a higher education.